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DIRECTORS’ REPORT 

 
 
 
Your directors present their report on the Consolidated Entity consisting of Automotive Technology Group Limited and the 
entities it controlled at the end of, or during, the year ended 30 June 2010. 
 
Directors 
 
The names and details of the Company’s Directors in office during the financial year and until the date of this report are as 
follows. Directors were in office for this entire period unless otherwise stated. 
 
Names, qualifications, experience and responsibilities 
Mr Richard John Siemens (Non-Executive Chairman) 
Mr Siemens was born and raised in Canada, trained as a Chartered Accountant and moved to Hong Kong in 1979. In 1984, 
he formed Hutchison Telephone Company Limited in partnership with Hutchison Whampoa and Motorola. While Group 
Managing Director of Hutchison Telecommunications Limited, Mr. Siemens was instrumental in the establishment of other 
leading companies including AsiaSat (the first satellite company in Asia), STAR TV, Metro Radio (the radio station 
awarded with the first private radio licence granted by the Hong Kong Government in 25 years) and Hutchison’s move into 
the European wireless business under the brand “Orange”. His financial acumen and entrepreneurial leadership is also key to 
establishing mobile telecommunication businesses across the world led by Distacom Group, a privately-held group of 
companies in mobile telecommunication business including SUNDAY in Hong Kong, Blu in Italy, Spice in India and 
Madacom in Madagascar. Mr Siemens has been a director and major investor in ATG since August 2005.  During the past 
three years, Mr Siemens has also served as the Chairman of e-Kong Group Limited, a company listed on the main board of 
the Hong Kong Stock Exchange since January 2000. 
 
Mr Steven James Apedaile (Managing Director) 
Mr Apedaile is a founding Executive Director and major investor since 2003. He is a former Chairman of the Group having 
extensive overseas experience as a resident of Hong Kong for nearly 25 years, the first 7 with KPMG Hong Kong and then 
18 years with Horwath Hong Kong. Mr Apedaile was an Audit Director of Horwath and is experienced in all facets of 
international business and corporate finance. Mr Apedaile has been involved in merger and acquisitions and the raising of 
capital, both equity and debt for clients. He has also provided expertise in audits in connection with public stock offerings, 
both in Hong Kong and on Nasdaq. Mr Apedaile, a Chartered Accountant and previously a registered auditor. On 14 
September 2009, Mr Apedaile assumed the Managing Director position after previously being Executive Director -  
Corporate.   During the past three years, Mr Apedaile did not serve as a director of other listed companies. 
 
Mr Michael John Wilson (Non-executive Director) 
Mr Wilson is the owner and managing director of a Perth-based company which supplies engineering, procurement, 
fabrication and construction services to the oil and gas and resources sector. Mr Wilson has overseen the growth of the 
business into a multi-million dollar annual revenue generating operation in the past 12 years.  Mr Wilson has been a director 
and major investor in ATG since October 2009.  During the past three years, Mr Wilson did not serve as a director of other 
listed companies. 
 
Mr Richard John O’Brien (Non-executive Director) 
Mr O’Brien joined the Board as a non-executive director effective 3 March 2010.  He has vast experience and expertise in 
company financial management and administration, which has been acquired through more than 35 years in senior finance 
and administration roles - including company secretary and chief accountant with two mining companies.  He holds a 
Bachelor of Business, Post Graduate Diploma in Business and is a Fellow of the Australian Society of CPA’s.  During the 
past three years, Mr O’Brien did not serve as a director of other listed companies. 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONT’D) 

 
 
 
Directors’ Interests 
As at the date of this report, the interests of the Directors in the shares and options of Automotive Technology Group 
Limited were: 
 
 
Director 

   
Number of 

Ordinary 
Shares 

 
 

Number of Options over 
Ordinary Shares 

    Expiring 
31 Dec 2010 

Expiring 
30 Jun 2011 

Mr R Siemens   35,715,255 1,500,000 7,143,051 
Mr S Apedaile   25,732,486 1,500,000 4,598,369 
Mr M Wilson   46,658,000 - 8,104,600 
Mr R O’Brien   822,609 - 99,722 
   108,928,350 3,000,000 19,945,742 
 
 
Company Secretary 
 
Mr Jay Richard Stephenson (Company Secretary) 
Mr Jay Stephenson holds a Master of Business Administration (UK), is a Certified Management Accountant (Canada), a 
Fellow of the Australian Institute of Chartered Secretaries and is a Member of the Australian Institute of Company Directors. 
Mr Stephenson has had a career spanning over 20 years including the past 14 years as Director, Chief Financial Officer and 
Company Secretary in both Australia and Canada for various listed and unlisted entities in resources, manufacturing, wine, 
hotels, and property. He has been involved in business acquisitions, mergers, initial public offerings, capital raisings, 
business restructuring as well as managing all areas of finance for companies. Mr Stephenson is currently non-executive 
director and company secretary of Drake Resources Limited and Aura Energy Limited and company secretary of Frontier 
Resources Limited, Revere Mining Limited, Stonehenge Metals Limited, Globe Securities Limited, Noah Resources 
Limited, and Alpha Uranium Limited. 
 
Chief Financial Officer 
 
Ms Eileen Chan (Chief Financial Officer) 
Ms Chan holds a Masters Degree in Commerce and has over 20 years accounting experience in both the professional and 
commercial accounting sectors and is a member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in Australia and the Hong Kong 
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Ms Chan has held several senior roles at Horwath Hong Kong, notably that of 
Director, Audit & Assurance for the last six years prior to joining ATG.  Ms Chan has extensive experience in IPOs, mergers 
and acquisitions, transaction support services, business financing, corporate compliance and due diligence work. Ms Chan 
joined the Group in September 2008 and resigned on 10 September 2010 to be replaced by Mr Michael van Uffelen who 
joined the Company on 6 September 2010. 
 
Mr Michael van Uffelen (Chief Financial Officer) 
Mr van Uffelen is from Perth and has recently returned from abroad after enjoying an international career spanning 17 years. 
He has 20 year experience with accountancy firms Ernst & Young and PricewaterhouseCoopers, during which time he 
provided a variety of services to his clients, including corporate finance services, audit and assurance advisory, transaction 
and valuation advisory, insolvency and corporate restructuring and taxation advisory.  In 2008, Mr van Uffelen moved into 
investment banking, leading a team providing third party private equity and real estate fund administration services and then 
headed the corporate finance department of an investment bank, where the team focused on capital raisings and M&A 
advisory.  Mr van Uffelen joined the Company on 6 September 2010. 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONT’D) 

 
 
 
Principal Activities 
 
The principal activity of Automotive Technology Group Limited and the entities it controlled for the financial year ended 30 
June 2010 was the manufacture and distribution of the patented range of Sprintex® superchargers.  
 
Dividends 
 
No dividends have been declared or paid to shareholders during the year and at the date of this report. 
 
Review of Operations 
 
During the six months ended 31 December 2009, ATG completed the development of its Series 5 Superchargers.  With the 
development of the Series 5 Superchargers complete, in the second half of financial year ended 30 June 2010, ATG 
commenced an active programme to enhance commercialisation activities and to realign the organisation from a research 
and development focus to a sales and customer delivery focus.   
 
The commercialisation strategy has two key objectives.  Firstly reducing production costs, which is being achieved through 
initiatives such as casting rather than milling components, challenging component channels and moving to in-house 
production of the most expensive component, the rotors.  This process is ongoing, and developments to-date have now made 
the Company’s product highly cost competitive, with expectations that further cost reductions are readily achievable.   
 
Secondly, with model development and cost reduction initiatives largely having been completed, the Company’s focus 
shifted to  revenue generation through after-market sales.  The critical challenges in selling after-market kits is careful 
selection of vehicles to target for installation of after-market kits and the rapid development of these kits, followed by a 
ready network of distributors to place kits.  Starting with vehicle selection, management introduced an enhanced vehicle 
selection process. This process starts with market surveys aimed at identifying not only high volume vehicles but which also 
considers the propensity of vehicle owners to modify their vehicles either through choice or necessity, and ultimately those 
which can be converted into profitable sales of superchargers.   
 
The first focus vehicle was the Toyota Land Cruiser Series 100.  This vehicle was selected as it is one of the most popular 
off-road recreational vehicles in the world.  After introducing kit in March 2010, 13 kits have been sold in Australia, and the 
order book continues to build, with international sales planned.  
 
Vehicles for which kits will be finalised in the second half of calendar 2010 include: 
 

• Suzuki Swift: aimed at the Chinese market which produces and consumes 70,000 units per year, and for which 
there is a trend to modify/customise the vehicle; 

• Honda Jazz: a further kit aimed at the Chinese market on a vehicle for which 110,000 units per year are sold; 
• New Mini: for which over 800,000 new Minis were sold globally between 2002 and 2007, and with the aging Mini 

Cooper S fleet reaching an age at which the incumbent supercharger is due for replacement;  
• Toyota Reiz: the most commonly customised vehicle in China, of which an estimated 460,000 have been built; 
• Jeep Cherokee: a staple vehicle of the off-road fraternity, and a model with an estimated 4 million units produced 

globally, but centred in the US and China; and 
• Toyota 4 litre V6: a widely used engine in models such as the Prado, FJ Cruiser and Hilux. 

 
The introduction of these new kits is forecast to significantly increase sales volumes in the first half of calendar 2011, as has 
been experienced to date in July and August 2010.  In preparation for this planned increase in sales, the Company has 
expanded its network of dealers in Australia, Europe, China and the US, and is in negotiations with additional dealers for 
specialty products, such as the large Mini market in the US. 
 
The ability of the Company to develop the new supercharger kits is testimony to the investment which has been made in 
prototyping equipment which enables rapid model development and prototyping of kits, accelerating the time from design to 
market delivery. 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONT’D) 

 
 
 
The Company continues to receive high levels of enquiry for its patented green Sprintex® Supercharging technology, in 
both after-market and original equipment manufacturers (“OEM”) applications.  The Company is now supplying 
superchargers to its first OEM, DeLorean, and has developed a supercharger kit which is being tested by S&S Cycles, USA, 
which is the second largest hog style motor cycle engine manufacturer behind Harley Davidson. 
 
Continuing with the activities with OEMs, in February and April 2010, the Company, respectively, signed collaboration 
agreements with Greaves Cotton Limited, an engineering group listed in Mumbai and Indian National Stock Exchanges and 
PlasmaDrive Inc, a green automotive technology company in the United States to develop Sprintex® supercharger systems.  
 
ATG / Greaves Cotton Limited (“Greaves”) collaboration 
 
Greaves manufactures about 300,000 Diesel engines per annum for a variety of applications, from single cylinder stationary 
units though to large truck and tractor engines. Greaves is particularly looking to supercharger technology to assist in 
reduction of particulate emissions as India adopts European exhaust emissions standards. For ATG, a successful partnership 
with Greaves would underpin the currently planned expansion of supercharger manufacturing facilities to a low cost location 
such as India. 
 
ATG / PlasmaDrive Inc (“PlasmaDrive”) collaboration 
 
PlasmaDrive’s patented breakthrough technology allows conventional vehicles fitted with the Phas5fuel system utilizing the 
Company’s Sprintex® Superchargers to operate at normal capacity using significantly less fuel, with a proportional decrease 
in exhaust emissions. Previous extensive testing in the USA has achieved fuel savings of 30% to 50%.  In June 2010, a 
PlasmaDrive Phas5 Fuel system was successfully installed and calibrated on a conventional configuration Ford F250 
vehicle, under the supervision of a PlasmaDrive engineer in Perth. Extensive road testing and tuning of the PlasmaDrive-
equipped Ford F250 test vehicle has now been completed and was highly successful, with the F250 test vehicle achieving 
fuel savings of 30% during road testing.  The next phase of testing was a dyno testing program to help re-affirm the road 
results which confirmed the reduced exhaust emissions outcomes, including the ability to provide low NOX output at very 
lean Air Fuel Ratios (above 20-1) - in both on-road and steady-state test conditions.  Certification testing of exhaust 
emissions and fuel economy of the PlasmaDrive engine system is ongoing to validate the performance of the combined 
PlasmaDrive / Sprintex system, with the aim of achieving a commercial launch of the systems during 2011. 
 
Discussions are ongoing with other OEMs in India and China, and as these proceed, the Company anticipates making stock 
exchange announcements as negotiations progress. 
 
Finally, to validate the performance of the Company’s products, a comprehensive programme of comparison testing of the 
Sprintex® Series Five Supercharger against its major competitor’s supercharger product was undertaken.  The testing was 
carried out to Society of Automotive Engineers (SAE) J1723 standard (the standard for the comparison of superchargers) 
and confirmed the technical superiority of ATG’s Sprintex® range of twin screw superchargers.  Further details are 
contained in the Company’s announcement dated 5 August 2010. 
 
Financial Review 
 
The financial results for the 2010 financial year reflect achievements in research and development activities in the 
commercialisation and product testing of the new range of patented Sprintex® Superchargers, the effect of restructuring and 
cost control processes resulting in much improved results when compared to the financial year ended 30 June 2009. 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONT’D) 

 
 
 
Financial Review (cont’d) 
 
Operating results 
The loss for the financial year was $4,322,826 when compared to a loss of $5,473,738 in the 2009 financial year.  Sales for 
the year 2010 were $579,938 (2009, $463,717), representing an increase of 25%.  This was largely a result of new products 
being released to the market during the financial year.  This trend is expected to continue as more new products are 
scheduled for release to the markets in first half of the 2011 financial year.  The introduction of more products to the market 
is the result of a continuous intense level of research and development activities in 2009, which is evidenced by a decrease in 
research and development cost in 2010. 
 
Gross profit on sales of products for the year ended 30 June 2010 was $123,797, compared to $42,075 in 2009.  The increase 
in gross profit in 2010 was contributed to new products introduced to the market during the year.  Pre-production and 
prototype kits were sold to customers for market launch, the costs of which were already absorbed in research and 
development of these prototype kits.  Results for 2010 year were also affected by: 
 
• Provision for losses on the net realisable value of inventory of $653,442 was made in 2009 as a strategic decision to 

have future focus on the development and manufacturing of Sprintex® products. In 2010, a further provision of only 
$152,600 was required. 

• Foreign exchange gain of $6,475 during the year when compared to foreign exchange loss of $1,950 in 2009. 
• Research and development expenses decreased by $694,554 during the year. 
• Recognition of share based payment of $129,024 (2009: $57,500). 
• Decrease in fees paid to directors of $274,082 as a result of resignation of an executive director – Anthony Hamilton 

and fee reduction of the non-executive chairman. 
• Decreased costs in trade mark and patent management as the process was substantially completed in financial year 

2009. 
 
Liquidity and Capital Resources 
The consolidated statement of cash flows illustrates that there was an increase in cash and cash equivalents in the year ended 
30 June 2010 of $1,073,448 (2009: a decrease of $3,359,245). The net cash inflow in comparison with the net cash outflow 
the prior year is caused by a number of factors. Financing activities generated a net cash inflow of $6,201,246 (2009: 
$1,726,640), mainly from various share placements during the year and entitlement share issue in October 2009 (refer to 
note 19 to the financial statements), secured convertible note and short term loans from shareholders (refer to note 16 to the 
financial statements).  The net increase in cash flows from financing activities has been offset by net outflows from 
operating activities of $5,200,316 (2009: $4,675,762). The increase in net operating cash outflows during the year when 
compared to last year was mainly a result of payments to suppliers for acquisition and building up of inventory during the 
year for anticipated sales in current and coming years. The amount of net cash generated from investing activities of $72,518 
(2009:  net cash used of $410,123) was mainly attributable to the release of pledged deposit and sale of property, plant and 
equipment, offset by purchases of project vehicle and computer server upgrade. 
 
Asset and capital structure 
 

  2010 
$ 

2009 
$ 

     
Total borrowings   2,717,575 2,392,278 
Less: cash and cash equivalents (75,521) (193,324)
Net debt   2,642,054 2,198,954 
Total equity   2,888,379 2,239,390 
Total capital   5,530,433 4,438,344 
     
Gearing ratio – net debt over total capital   48% 50% 
 
Gearing ratio, defined as net debt over total capital, as at 30 June 2010 was 48%. The Group's policy for the year ended 30 
June 2010 allowed up to 60% of financing to be provided by net debt at any particular time. The Group is currently 
operating well within its stated policy. Management's policies for determining whether fixed or floating rates of interest are 
entered into are examined on a yearly basis. 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONT’D) 

 
 
 
Financial Review (cont’d) 
 
On 14 December 2009, the Company entered into a subscription agreement with an independent third party whereby the 
Company was granted a standby equity facility to the extent of A$5 million for the term of three years from date of signing 
of the agreement.  Up to the date of this report, the Company has not drawn down from the facility. 
 
Capital expenditure 
The cash used to purchase property, plant and equipment for the year ended 30 June 2010 in the amount of $88,713 was 
lower than the amount of $343,524 used in the year ended 30 June 2009. As at 30 June 2010, the Group had outstanding 
capital commitments in respect of acquisition of property plant and equipment contracted for but not provided for in the 
financial statements in the amount of US$50,000 (2009: $Nil). 
 
Profile of borrowings 
The profile of the Group’s debt finance is as follows: 
   2010 

$ 
2009 

$ 
Current     
Bank overdraft   - 1,007,518 
Insurance premium funding   64,467 65,766 
Finance lease liabilities   152,869 327,814 
Convertible notes   1,650,814 142,010 
Loans from related parties   772,977 616,971 
   2,641,127 2,160,079 
Non current     
Finance lease liabilities   76,448 232,199 
   2,717,575 2,392,278 
 
The Group's debts have increased by 14% over the last year. The Group anticipates that its debts will decrease over the 
coming year as a result of a proposed rights issue and a private placement subsequent to year end (see below for details). At 
the same time, the additional funding will enable the Group to improve sales trend through newly launched products and 
new business strategies. Of the Group's debts, 97% is repayable within one year of 30 June 2010, compared to 90% in the 
previous year. 
 
Risk management 
The Group takes a proactive approach to risk management. The Board is responsible for ensuring that risks, and also 
opportunities, are identified on a timely basis and that the Group's objectives and activities are aligned with the risks and 
opportunities identified by the Board. 
 
Upon the joining of Mr Mick Wilson and Mr Richard O’Brien as non-executive directors in October 2009 and March 2010 
respectively, the Company was able to strengthen the composition of the audit and risk committee. In addition, sub-
committees are convened as appropriate with the relevant key management personnel in response to issues and risks 
identified by the Board as a whole, and the sub-committees further examine the issues and report back to the Board. 
 
The Board has a number of mechanisms in place to ensure that management's objectives and activities are aligned with the 
risks identified by the Board. These include the following: 
 
• Board approval of a strategic plan, which encompasses the Group's vision, mission and strategy statements, designed to 

meet stakeholders' needs and manage business risk. 
• Implementation of Board approved operating plans and budgets and Board monitoring of progress against these 

budgets, including the establishment and monitoring of key performance indicators of both a financial and non-
financial nature. 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONT’D) 

 
 
 
Financial Review (cont’d) 
 
• The establishment of committees to report on specific business risks, including for example such matters as 

environmental issues and occupational health and safety. 
• The Company has mechanisms in place to get access to external professional advice in assisting the discharge of the 

Board's responsibilities to manage the organisation's financial risks including such matters as the Group's liquidity, 
currency, interest rate and credit policies and exposures and monitors management's actions to ensure they are in line 
with Group policy.  

 
Significant Changes in the State of Affairs 
 
Total equity increased from $2,239,390 at 30 June 2009 to $2,888,379 at 30 June 2010.  The movement was largely the 
result of the operating loss of $4,322,826 which was partially compensated by the net increase in contributed equity from the 
placement of ordinary shares throughout during the year and one for one entitlement issue at $0.05 per share in October 
2009 in total of $4,945,631.  Refer to note 19 for further information on movements in equity. 
 
Events Subsequent to Reporting Period 
 
Subsequent to the reporting period, the Company raised share capital by way of a private placement whereby 11,125,000 and 
365,853 ordinary shares at $0.04 and $0.041 per share respectively were issued for total gross proceeds of $460,000. 
 
The private placement also offered one free listed option for every five shares subscribed.  The options are exercisable at 
$0.10 per share expiring on 30 June 2011.  A total of 1,026,168 and 2,298,171 listed options were issued in relation to the 
private placements in May and June 2010 and subsequent to year end respectively. 
 
On 29 September 2010 the Board of Directors resolved to offer shareholders a one for one non renounceable rights issue at 3 
cents to strengthen the capital base of the Company as it enters its product commercialisation phase.  The directors have 
agreed to participate in the rights issue for a minimum of 77,161,074 shares which will raise $2,351,637 of funds.  These 
funds will be applied to repay existing advances from directors at 30 September 2010 of $1,253,518 and provide the 
Company with $1,061,315 of additional funding.  
 
The directors have agreed to advance these funds via a loan to the Company by 6 October 2010, while the rights issue 
documentation is prepared. 
 
 
Loss per Share 
 
Basic loss and diluted loss per share was $0.0246 and $0.0246 respectively. 
 
Employees 
 
The Group employed 25 persons as at 30 June 2010 (2009: 30 persons). 
 
Future Developments, Prospects and Business Strategies 
 
Outlook 
The Company used the 2010 fiscal year as a preparation period during which production costs were reduced and the building 
blocks to establish a sales focused organisation where built.  With the efforts during the period, management are confident 
that sales will lift and management have set a goal of reaching break even in the first half of calendar 2011. 
 
Also refer to the Review of Operations section included in this Directors’ report which details the specific activities and 
products which are expected to be the enablers to achieving these goals. 
 
As fiscal 2011 progresses, the Company expects to be able to report progress on the market acceptance of supercharge kits 
developed as well as announcing the introduction of further kits.  This is expected to be in both the after-market and in 
conjunctions with OEMs. 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONT’D) 

 
 
 
Environmental Issues 
 
The Consolidated Entity’s operations are not subject to any significant environmental regulations under either 
Commonwealth or State legislation. However, the Board believes that the Consolidated Entity has adequate systems in place 
for the management of its environmental requirements and is not aware of any breach of these environmental requirements 
as they apply to the Consolidated Entity. 
 
Share/Option Information 
 
As at the date of this report, there were 60,181,930 unissued ordinary shares under options.  Option holders do not have any 
right, by virtue of the option, to participate in any share issue of the company or any related body corporate. During the year 
and up to the date of this report, 1,895 options have been exercised.  Details of the options are set out in note 25 to the 
financial statements. 
 
 
Indemnification and Insurance of Directors 
 
The Company has entered into an Indemnity, Insurance and Access Deed with each Director and Officer. 
 
Pursuant to the Deed, the Director/Officer is indemnified by the Company against any liability incurred in that capacity as an 
officer of the Company to the maximum extent permitted by law subject to certain exclusions. 
 
The Company must keep a complete set of company documents until the later of: 
• the date which is seven years after the Director/Officer ceases to be an officer of the Company; and 
• the date after a final judgment or order has been made in relation to any hearing, conference, dispute, enquiry or 

investigation in which the Director/Officer is involved as a party, witness or otherwise because the Director is or was 
an officer of the Company (“Relevant Proceedings”). 

 
The Director has the right to inspect and/or copy a company document in connection with Relevant Proceedings during the 
period referred to above. 
 
Subject to the next sentence, the Company must maintain an insurance policy insuring the Director/Officer against liability 
as a director and officer of the Company while the Director/Officer is an officer of the Company and until the later of: 
 
• the date which is seven years after the Director/Officer ceases to be an officer of the Company; and 
• the date any Relevant Proceedings have been finally resolved. 
 
The Company may cease to maintain the insurance policy if the Company reasonably determines that the type of coverage is 
no longer available. 
 
$7,660 has been paid by the Company in respect of insurance contract premiums for directors and officers during the year. 
 
Directors’ Meetings 
 
The number of meetings of directors held during the year and up to the date of the report and the attendance by each director 
were as follows: 
 
 
Name 

Number of meetings 
held 

Number of meetings 
eligible to attend 

Number of 
meetings attended 

    
Mr R Siemens  7 7 7 
Mr S Apedaile 7 7 7 
Mr M Wilson 7 4 4 
Mr R O’Brien 7 2 2 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONT’D) 

 
 
 
In addition to physical meetings held, written resolutions of the Board together with full copies of related documents were 
circulated to all directors for consideration and approval.  All such written resolutions were approved by all directors 
unanimously. 
 
Corporate Governance 
 
Corporate governance matters are discussed in Corporate Governance Statement on pages 18 to 21 of this report. 
 
Non-audit Services 
 
No non-audit services have been provided by the Company’s auditor, Ernst and Young during the year. 
 
Auditor’s Independence Declaration 
 
The auditor’s independence declaration for the year ended 30 June 2010 has been received and can be found on the next 
page. 
 



 
 

 

PM:MB:ATG:017 
  Liability limited by a scheme approved 

under Professional Standards 
Legislation 

 

Auditor’s Independence Declaration to the Directors of Automotive 
Technology Group Limited 

In relation to our audit of the financial report of Automotive Technology Group Limited for the 
financial year ended 30 June 2010, to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been no 
contraventions of the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 or any 
applicable code of professional conduct. 

 

 
 
Ernst & Young 
 

 
P McIver 
Partner 
Perth 
30 September 2010 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONT’D) 

 
 
 
Remuneration Report (Audited) 
 
This remuneration report outlines the director and executive remuneration arrangements of the Company in accordance with 
the requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 and its Regulations. For the purpose of this report, key management 
personnel of the Group are defined as those persons having the authority and responsibility for planning, directing and 
controlling the major activities of the Group, directly or indirectly, including any director (whether executive or otherwise) 
of the parent company, and includes the five executives in the Group receiving the highest remuneration. 
 
Details of key management personnel (including the five highest paid executives of the Group) 
 
Names and positions held of the Company’s Directors and other key management personnel in office at any time during the 
financial year and up to the date of this report were: 
 
Parent Entity Directors 
Mr R Siemens ................................... Non-Executive Chairman 
Mr S Apedaile................................... Executive Director – Corporate (up to 13 September 2009) 
 ............................................... Managing Director (effective 14 September 2009) 
Mr M Wilson .................................... Non-Executive Director (appointed on 26 October 2009) 
Mr R O’Brien ................................... Non-Executive Director (appointed on 3 March 2010) 
Mr A Hamilton ................................. Executive Director – Operations (up to 31 August 2009) 
 ............................................... Non-Executive Director (effective 1 September 2009, resigned on 14 September 2009) 
 
Other Key Management Personnel 
Ms E Chan3....................................... Chief Financial Officer 
Mr M van Uffelen4 ........................... Chief Financial Officer 
Mr J Williams ................................... General Manager - Operations 
Mr J Upton........................................ Business Development Manager 
Mr R Griffin2 .................................... Production  and Supply Chain Manager 
Mr S Wilkinson1 ............................... Sales & Marketing Manager 
1. Resigned 28 August 2009 
2. Resigned 7 April 2010 
3. Resigned 23 August 2010 
4. Joined 6 September 2010 
 
Remuneration Policy 
 
For the purposes of this report, the term key management personnel encompasses the Directors, Chief Financial Officer, and 
Departmental Managers of the Company. 
 
Each Director of the Company is entitled to such remuneration from the Company as shareholders approve at the annual 
general meeting, but the total amount provided to all non-executive directors must not exceed in aggregate the amount fixed 
by the Company in a general meeting. 
 
The Board of Directors of the Company is responsible for determining and reviewing remuneration arrangements for the 
directors and executives. The Board assesses the appropriateness of the nature and amount of remuneration of executives on 
a periodic basis by reference to relevant employment market conditions with the overall objective of ensuring maximum 
stakeholder benefit from the retention of a high quality, high performing director and executive team.  Options can be issued 
as part of director and executive remuneration to encourage the alignment of personal and shareholder interests.  The 
expected outcome of this remuneration structure is: 
 
• Retention and motivation of Directors 
• Performance rewards to allow Directors to share the rewards of the success of the Company 
• Competitiveness and reasonableness 
• Acceptability to shareholders 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONT’D) 
 
 
 
Remuneration Report (Audited) (cont’d) 
 
Remuneration Policy (cont’d) 
 
The Board feels that the expiry date and exercise price of options currently on issue to the directors is sufficient to align the 
goals of the directors and executives with those of shareholders to maximise shareholders wealth, and as such, has not set 
any performance conditions for the directors and executives of the company in relation to options.  The Board will continue 
to monitor this to ensure that it is appropriate for the Company in future years. 
 
The Company has no policy on executives and directors entering into contracts to hedge their exposure to options or shares 
granted as part of their remuneration package. 
 
Group performance over the last 5 years is as follows: 
 
 Losses Loss per share 
 $ $ 
2010 4,322,826 0.02 
2009 5,473,738 0.05 
2008 5,457,159 0.09 
2007 3,334,957 N/A 
2006 3,747,848 N/A 
 
Remuneration Structure 
 
In accordance with best practice corporate governance, the structure of non-executive director and executive remuneration is 
separate and distinct. 
 
Non-Executive Director Remuneration 
Objective 

The Board seeks to set aggregate remuneration at a level that provides the Company with the ability to attract and retain 
directors of the highest calibre, whilst incurring a cost that is acceptable to shareholders. 
 
Structure 
The ASX Listing Rules specify that the aggregate remuneration of non-executive directors shall be determined from time to 
time by a general meeting. The aggregate remuneration for all non-executive Directors has been set at a maximum amount of 
$300,000 per annum.  
 
The amount of aggregate remuneration sought to be approved by shareholders and the fee structure is reviewed annually.  
The Company advises that the remuneration of the non-executive chairman was reduced from $8,500 per month to $2,500 
per month commencing September 2009, in line with the remuneration of other two non-executive directors appointed in 
October 2009 and March 2010.  All non-executive Directors do not receive retirement benefits.   
 
Executive Directors and other Key Management Personnel Remuneration 
As part of its Corporate Governance Policies and Procedures, the board has adopted a formal Remuneration Committee 
Charter. Due to the current size of the Company and number of Directors, the board has elected not to create a separate 
Remuneration Committee but has instead decided to undertake the function of the Committee as a full Board under the 
guidance of the formal charter. 
 
Structure 
While it is intended to achieve the remuneration structure as mentioned in the Remuneration Policy in page 12, due to the 
current nature and performance of the Company’s business operations, the rewards for Directors have no set or pre-
determined performance conditions or key performance indicators as part of their remuneration. 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONT’D) 

 
 
 
Remuneration Report (Audited) (cont’d) 
 
Remuneration Structure (cont’d) 
 
On 18 December 2009, Christmas cash bonus was paid to all staff at the discretion of the directors.  The maximum payable 
to key management personnel and amount paid was $900.  
 
No short term or long term incentive schemes are considered appropriate at this time due to the historical performance of the 
Company.  In the case of executive directors, the Company has entered into detailed service contract with the Executive 
Directors.  In the case of other key management personnel, standard contracts setting out base salary, superannuation and 
non-monetary benefits were entered.  Details of these service contracts with the Executive Directors are provided below. 
 
 
Executive directors 
The Company has entered into a consultancy agreement with Powertraveller Pty Ltd (“Powertraveller”) for the provision of 
services by Mr Steven Apedaile as Executive Director - Corporate of the Company. Pursuant to the terms of this agreement, 
the Company will pay Powertraveller $35,000 per month for the term of the agreement (being 36 months from 1 June 2007) 
and is subject to a review on the anniversary date of the agreement, the increase of which shall not be less than 5% of the 
annual amount. The Company advises that Powertraveller has reduced its fee since October 2008 to $20,000 per month.  On 
7 September 2010, the consultancy agreement with Powertraveller has been renewed.  Pursuant to the terms of the renewed 
agreement, the Company will pay Powertraveller $20,000 per month for the term of 36 months from 1 June 2010 for the 
provision of services by Mr Apedaile as the Managing Director of the Company.  The agreement can be terminated by either 
party by giving a six months’ notice.  No other termination payment is payable upon completion of the term of the 
agreement and the agreement has no effect on compensation in the future.. 
 
The Company has entered into a consultancy agreement with CMIH Enterprises Pty Ltd (“CMIH”) for the provision of 
services by Mr Anthony Hamilton as Executive Director - Operations of the Company. Pursuant to the terms of this 
agreement, the Company will pay CMIH $35,000 per month for the term of the agreement (being 36 months from 1 June 
2007) and is subject to a review on the anniversary date of the agreement, the increase of which shall not be less than 5% of 
the annual amount. The agreement can be terminated by either party by the provision of notice payment equal to the term 
remaining of this agreement.  No other termination payment is payable upon completion of the term of the agreement and 
the agreement has no effect on compensation in the future. The Company advises that CMIH has reduced its fee from 
October 2008 to $20,000 per month.  As stated in the Company’s announcement dated 13 August 2009, Mr Anthony 
Hamilton resigned as Executive Director – Operations with effect from 31 August 2009 and remained as a non-executive 
director until no later than 31 October 2009 at a total fee of $60,000 and no other termination payment is payable.  Mr 
Hamilton resigned as a non-executive director on 14 September 2009. 
 
All Directors are entitled to be paid reasonable travelling, accommodation and other expenses incurred in consequence of 
their attendance at Board meetings and otherwise in the execution of their duties as Directors. 
 
Other key management personnel 
Other key management personnel are given the opportunity to receive their remuneration in a variety of forms including cash 
and fringe benefits such as motor vehicles. It is intended that the manner of payment chosen will be optimal for the recipient 
without creating undue cost for the Group. 
 
The remuneration of directors and executives is detailed under the heading “Compensation of Key Management Personnel” 
below. 
 
The Company has established an employee share option plan (“ESOP”) for all employees of the Group.  The ESOP is 
designed to provide eligible participants with an ownership interest in the Company and to provide additional incentives for 
eligible participants to increase profitability and returns to shareholders.  Details of the ESOP are set out in note 25 to the 
financial statements.  No options have been granted under the ESOP during the years ended 30 June 2010 and 2009. 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONT’D) 

 
 
 
Remuneration Report (Audited) (cont’d) 
 
Compensation of Key Management Personnel (Consolidated) for the years ended 30 June 2010 and 2009 
 

  Short-term benefits 
Post 

employment  Share based payment Total 

% 
Performance 

related 

% of 
remuneration 

consisting 
option 

Year ended 30 June 2010  
 Salary & 

fees   Cash bonus  

 Non-
monetary 
benefits   Superannuation  Shares   Options   

  

  $   $   $   $  $  $   $    
Directors           
Mr R Siemens  42,000 - 547 -  - - 42,547 - - 
Mr S Apedaile  240,000 - 547 -  - - 240,547 - - 
Mr M Wilson 20,000 - 365 - - - 20,365 - - 
M R O’Brien 10,000 - 182 - - - 10,182 - - 
Mr A Hamilton (i) 100,000  - 137 -  - - 100,137 - - 
Sub-total directors  412,000  - 1,778  -  - - 413,778   
Other key management personnel           
Mr J Upton  150,000  - -  -  -  - 150,000 - - 
Ms E Chan 155,769 300 - 14,019 - - 170,088 - - 
Mr J Williams  96,015 300 10,467 8,641 - - 115,423 - - 
Mr R Griffin (i) 70,784 300 8,062 6,371 -  - 85,517 - - 
Mr S Wilkinson (i) 47,287 - 3,761 2,789 -  - 53,837 - - 
Sub-total key management 
personnel 519,855 900 22,290 31,820 - - 574,865   
Totals 931,855 900 24,068 31,820 - - 988,643   

 
(i) Resigned during the year ended 30 June 2010 



 

   16 

 
A U T O M O T I V E  T E C H N O L O G Y  G R O U P  L I M I T E D  

A N D  C O N T R O L L E D  E N T I T I E S  
 

DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONT’D) 
 
 
 
Remuneration Report (Audited) (cont’d) 
 

 Short-term benefits 
Post 

employment  Share based payment Total 

% 
Performance 

related 

% of 
remuneration 

consisting 
options 

Year ended 30 June 2009  
 Salary & 

fees   Cash bonus  

 Non-
monetary 
benefits   Superannuation  Shares  Options    

  $   $   $   $    $  $   
Directors           
Mr R Siemens  121,500 -  752 -  - - 122,252 - - 
Mr S Apedaile  262,682 -  752 -  - - 263,434 - - 
Mr A Hamilton (i) 281,500 -  752  -  - - 282,252 - - 
Sub-total directors  665,682  - 2,256  -  - - 667,938   
Other key management personnel           
          
Mr J Upton    170,400      -   752   -  - -   171,152 - - 
Ms E Chan   95,000      200     2,316          7,425  - -  104,941 - - 
Mr J Williams   70,292     300     11,370   6,326  - - 88,288 - - 
Mr R Griffin (i)   78,606      300    11,586     7,074  - -   97,566 - - 
Mr S Wilkinson (i)    83,460    300      8,221       7,511  - -   99,492 - - 
Mr J Scoringe (ii)    34,350         -       3,031  1,742  - -    39,123 - - 
Sub-total other key management 
personnel  532,108    1,100 37,276    30,078  - - 600,562   
Totals   1,197,790       1,100 39,532    30,078  - - 1,268,500   

 
(i) Resigned during the year ended 30 June 2010 
(ii) Resigned during the year ended 30 June 2009 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT CONT’D) 

 
 
 
Remuneration Report (Audited) (cont’d) 
 
Option granted and vested during 2009 and 2010 
 
No remuneration options were granted, vested or exercised during the period ended 30 June 2009 or 30 June 2010.  No 
remuneration options lapsed during 2009 or 2010.  All options were vested as at 30 June 2008.  There were no alterations of 
the terms and conditions of options granted as remuneration since the grant date. 
 
Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors. 
 
 

 
______________________ 
Steven Apedaile 
Managing Director 
Dated at Perth this 30th day of September 2010 
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 

 
 
 

The Board of Directors of ATG is responsible for the corporate governance of the Group. The Board guides and monitors 
the business affairs of the Company on the behalf of the shareholders by whom they are elected and to whom they are 
accountable. 
 
The Corporate Governance Statement of ATG is structured with reference to the Australian Stock Exchange Corporate 
Governance Council’s (the Council’s) “Corporate Governance Principles and Recommendations” (“ASX Principles”) as 
revised in August 2007 the Principles of which are as follows: 
 
Principle 1 Lay solid foundations for management and oversight 
Principle 2 Structure the Board to add value 
Principal 3 Promote ethical and responsible decision making 
Principle 4 Safeguard integrity in financial reporting 
Principle 5 Make timely and balances disclosures 
Principle 6 Respect the rights of shareholders 
Principle 7 Recognise and manage risk 
Principle 8 Remunerate fairly and responsibly 
 
Commensurate with the spirit of the ASX Principles, the Company has followed each of the Recommendations to the extent 
the Board considered that their implementation was practicable and likely to genuinely improve the Company’s internal 
processes and accountability to external stakeholders.  The Corporate Governance Statement contains certain specific 
information and discloses the extent to which the Company has followed the guidelines during the period. Where a 
recommendation has not been followed, that fact is disclosed, together with reasons for the departure.  
 
Explanation for Departures from Best Practice Recommendations 
 
Principle 2 
 
Nomination Committee 
 
Recommendation 2.4 requires listed entities to establish a nomination committee.  During the year ended 30 June 2010, 
ATG did not have a separately established nomination.  However, the duties and responsibilities typically delegated to such 
committee are included in the responsibilities of the full Board. 
 
Principle 4 
 
Audit Committee 
 
Recommendation 4.2 requires the audit committee to be structured so that it consists only of non-executive directors with a 
majority of independent directors, chaired by an independent chairperson who is not chairperson of the Board and has at 
least three members.  During the period from 1 July 2009 to 2 May 2010, the Audit Committee comprised the executive 
directors. The Board considered that this arrangement is appropriate given the current size of the Board and of the business.  
Upon the appointment of Mr Wilson as Non-Executive Director and Mr R O’Brien as Independent Non-Executive Director, 
new Audit Committee was formed.  Effective from 3 May 2010, Mr R O’Brien was appointed as the Chairman of the Audit 
Committee.  Members of the Audit Committee are Mr R Siemens, Mr M Wilson, both of whom are non-executive directors.  
The Board considered that as from 3 May 2010, the Company materially complies with the Recommendation and the new 
Audit Committee is a substantial improvement in the Corporate Governance of the Company. 
 
Principle 8 
 
Remuneration Committee 
 
Recommendation 8.1 requires listed entities to establish a remuneration committee.  During the year ended 30 June 2010, 
ATG did not have a separately established remuneration committee.  However, the duties and responsibilities typically 
delegated to such committee are included in the responsibilities of the full Board. 
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT (CONT’D) 

 
 
 
With the exception of the departures from the Corporate Governance Council recommendations in relation to the 
establishment of a nomination committee and remuneration committee as stated above, the corporate governance practices of 
ATG are compliant with the Council’s best practice recommendations. 
 
Board Function 
 
The Board is accountable to the shareholders for the performance of the Company and will have overall responsibility for its 
operations. Day to day management of the Company’s affairs, and the implementation of the corporate strategy and policy 
initiatives, is delegated by the Board to Mr Steven Apedaile, Managing Director. 
 
The key functions of the Board include: 
 
• approving the strategic direction and related objectives of the Company and monitoring management performance in 

the achievement of these objectives; 
• adopting budgets and monitoring the financial performance of the Company; 
• overseeing the establishment and maintenance of adequate internal controls and effective monitoring systems; 
• overseeing the implementation and management of effective safety and environmental performance systems; 
• ensuring all major business risks are identified and effectively managed; and 
• ensuring that the Company meets its legal and statutory obligations. 
 
Structure of the Board 
 
The skills, experience and expertise relevant to the position of director held by each director in office at the date of the 
annual report is included in the Directors’ Report. Directors of ATG are considered to be independent when they are 
independent of management and free from any business or other relationship that could materially interfere with – or could 
reasonably be perceived to materially interfere with – the exercise of their unfettered and independent judgement.  In 
accordance with the definition of independence above, Mr R O’Brien is considered to be independent. 
 
There are procedures in place, agreed by the Board, to enable directors in furtherance of their duties to seek appropriate 
independent professional advice at ATG’s expense. 
 
The terms in office held by each director in office at the date of this report is as follows: 
 
Name Position Term in Office 
Mr R Siemens  (Non-Executive Chairman) Appointed 29 August 2005 
Mr S Apedaile (Executive Director – Corporate) Appointed16 September 2003 
 (Managing Director) Effective 14 September 2009 
Mr M Wilson  (Non-Executive Director) Appointed 26 October 2009 
Mr R O’Brien (Non-Executive Director) Appointed on 3 March 2010 
 
Performance 
 
The performance of the Board and key executives is reviewed regularly against both measurable and qualitative indicators. 
During the reporting period, the Board conducted performance evaluations that involved an assessment of each Board 
member's and key executive's performance against specific and measurable qualitative and quantitative performance criteria. 
The performance criteria against which directors and executives are assessed are aligned with the financial and non-financial 
objectives of ATG. Key management personnel whose performance is consistently unsatisfactory may be asked to retire. 
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT (CONT’D) 

 
 
Trading Policy 
 
The Company has a formal policy for dealing in the Company’s securities by Directors, employees and contractors.  This 
sets out their obligations regarding disclosure of dealing in the Company’s securities.  The Constitution permits Directors to 
acquire securities in the Company during the four week period after the following: 
 
• any major announcements; 
• the release of the Company’s quarterly , half yearly and annual financial results to the ASX; and 
• the annual general meeting. 
 
However Company policy prohibits Directors and senior management from dealing the Company’s securities at any time 
while in possession of price sensitive information. 
 
Directors must advise the Board before buying or selling securities in the Company. All such transactions are reported to the 
Board.   In accordance with the provisions of the Corporations Act and the Listing Rules, the Company advises ASX of any 
transaction conducted by Directors in the securities of the Company. 
 
Audit Committee 
 
The Board has established an Audit Committee, which operates under a charter approved by the Board. It is the Board's 
responsibility to ensure that an effective internal control framework exists within the entity.  The committee’s primary 
responsibilities are to: 
 
• oversee the existence and maintenance of internal controls and accounting systems; 
• oversee the management of risk within the Company; 
• oversee the financial reporting process; 
• review the annual and half-year financial reports and recommend them for approval by the Board of Directors; 
• nominate external auditors; 
• review the performance of the external auditors and existing audit arrangements; and 
• ensure compliance with laws, regulations and other statutory or professional requirements, and the Company’s 

governance policies. 
 
The members of the Audit Committee during the year and up to the date of this report and the number of meetings and 
attendees at those meetings were: 
 

 
Name 

 
Period in Office 

No of 
meetings held 

Number of 
meetings attended 

    
Mr R O’Brien (Committee Chairman) From 3 May 2010 1 1 
Mr M Wilson  From 3 May 2010 1 - 
Mr R Siemens From 3 May 2010 1 1 
Mr S Apedaile  1 July 2009 to 2 May 2010 1 1 
Mr A Hamilton (Executive Director) 1 July 2009 to 14 September 2009 1 1 
 
Risk 
 
The Board has identified the significant areas of potential business and legal risk of ATG. The identification, monitoring 
and, where appropriate, the reduction of significant risk to ATG will be the responsibility of the Board. 
 
To this end, comprehensive practices are in place that are directed towards achieving the following objectives: 
 
• effectiveness and efficiency in the use of the Company's resources; 
• compliance with applicable laws and regulations; 
• preparation of reliable published financial information. 
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT (CONT’D) 

 
 
The Board reviews and monitors the parameters under which such risks will be managed. Management accounts were 
prepared and reviewed at Board meetings. Budgets were prepared and compared against actual results. 
 
Managing Director and CFO Certifications 
 
In accordance with section 295A of the Corporations Act, both the managing director and chief financial officer have 
provided a written statement to the Board that: 
 
• their view provided on the Company’s financial report is founded on a sound system of risk management and internal 

compliance and control which implements the financial policies adopted by the Board 
• the Company’s risk management and internal compliance and control system is operating effectively in all material 

respects. 
 
Remuneration 
 
It is the Company's objective to provide maximum stakeholder benefit from the retention of a high quality Board and 
executive team by remunerating directors and key executives fairly and appropriately with reference to relevant employment 
market conditions. The Company does not link the nature and amount of the emoluments of such officers to the Company’s 
financial or operational performance.  The expected outcomes of the remuneration structure are: 
 
• retention and motivation of key executives; 
• attraction of high quality management to the Company; and 
• performance rewards to allow executives to share in the success of ATG 
 
For a full discussion of the Company's remuneration philosophy and framework and the remuneration received by directors 
and executives in the current period please refer to the Remuneration Report, which is contained within the Directors' Report 
in pages 12 to 15. 
 
There is no scheme to provide retirement benefits to non-executive directors. 
 
The Board is responsible for determining and reviewing compensation arrangements for the directors themselves and the 
executive team. 
 
Shareholder communication policy 
 
Pursuant to Principle 6, ATG’s objective is to promote effective communication with its shareholders at all time.  The 
Company is committed to: 
 
• ensuring that shareholders and the financial market are provided with full and timely information about te4h 

Company’s activities in a balances and understandable way; 
• complying with continuous disclosure obligations contained in applicable ASX listing rules and the Corporation Act in 

Australia; and 
• communicating effectively with its shareholders and making it easier for shareholders to communicate with ATG. 
 
To promote effective communication with shareholders and encourage effective participation at general meetings, 
information is communicated to shareholders: 
 
Through the release of information to the market via the ASX 
Through the distribution of the annual report and notices of annual general meeting 
Through shareholder meetings and investor relations presentations 
Through letter and other forms of direct communications to shareholders 
By posting relevant information on ATG’s website: www.ATGgroup.com.au 
 
The external auditors are required to attend the annual general meeting and are required to answer any shareholder questions 
about the conduct of ht audit and preparation of the audit report. 

http://www.atggroup.com.au/
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010 
 
 

 
 NOTES   2010 

$ 
2009 

$ 
 
 

     

Sales of goods and services    579,938 463,717 
Other revenue 5   2,730 58,813 
Revenue    582,668 522,530 
Cost of goods sold 11 (456,141) (421,642)
Gross profit    126,527 100,888 
      
Other income/(losses) 5  15,783 (6,169)
      
Distribution & marketing expenses  (252,515) (332,096)
Occupancy expenses  (16,070) (26,141)
Corporate expenses  (1,145,421) (1,314,543)
Research & development expenses 5 (1,802,634) (2,497,188)
Administration expenses  (1,162,799) (1,207,559)
Other expenses 5 (281,624) (710,942)
Finance costs 5 (171,425) (180,080)
   
Loss before income tax expense  (4,690,178) (6,173,830)
Income tax benefit 6   367,352 700,092 
      
Net loss for the year  (4,322,826) (5,473,738)
      
Other comprehensive income, net of tax      
Fair value revaluation of land and buildings    (79,934) - 
      
Total comprehensive income for the year   (4,402,760) (5,473,738)
      
Loss per share attributable to the ordinary equity 
holders of the Company 

 
    

Basic loss per share 7 2.46 cents 5.19 cents
Diluted loss per share 7 2.46 cents 5.19 cents
 

 
 
 

The Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the Notes to the Financial 
Statements. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

AS AT 30 JUNE 2010 
 
 
 

 NOTES   2010 
$ 

2009 
$ 

 
ASSETS 

     

 
CURRENT ASSETS 
 Cash and cash equivalents 
 Pledged bank deposit 
 Trade and other receivables 
 Inventories 

 
 
 

9 
10 
11 

   
 

75,521 
82,000 

787,730 
2,179,892 

 
 

(6,676) 
200,000 
479,104 

1,662,862 
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS    3,125,143 2,335,290 
      
NON-CURRENT ASSETS 

Receivables 
Property, plant and equipment 
Goodwill & intellectual property 

 
12 
13 
14 

   
49,762 

2,722,939 
491,207 

 
32,543 

3,080,721 
509,417 

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS    3,263,908 3,622,681 
      
TOTAL ASSETS    6,389,051 5,957,971 
      
 
CURRENT LIABILITIES 
 Trade and other payables 
 Interest bearing liabilities 
 Provisions 
 Other liabilities 

 
 

15 
16 
17 
18 

   
 

527,062 
2,641,127 

139,066 
116,969 

 
 

1,115,671 
2,160,079 

103,457 
107,175 

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES    3,424,224 3,486,382 
      
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES      
 Interest bearing liabilities 16   76,448 232,199 
      
TOTAL LIABILITIES    3,500,672 3,718,581 
      
NET ASSETS    2,888,379 2,239,390 
      
 
EQUITY 
 Contributed equity 
 Reserves 

 
 

19 
20 

   
 

26,568,547 
1,327,708 

 
 

21,622,916 
1,301,524 

 Accumulated losses  (25,007,876) (20,685,050)
TOTAL EQUITY    2,888,379 2,239,390 
 
 
 
 

The Consolidated Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the Notes to the Financial Statements. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010 
 
 

 
  Reserves   

 
 
CONSOLIDATED ENTITY 

Contributed 
equity  

Convertible 
note  

equity 

Asset  
revaluation 

reserve 

Share 
option  
reserve 

Accumulated 
losses Total 

 Note 19 Note 20 (a) Note 20 (b) Note 20 (c)   
 $ $ $ $ $ $ 

Balance at 30 June 2008 20,615,323 - 832,088 401,050 (15,211,312) 6,637,149 
       
Total Comprehensive income - 
Loss for the year - - - - (5,473,738) (5,473,738) 

Transactions with owners in 
their capacity as owners - -  -   
Issue of shares  1,023,000 - - - - 1,023,000 
Share issue expenses (15,407) - - - - (15,407)
Issuance of convertible note - 10,886 - - - 10,886 
Share-based payments (note 25) - - - 57,500 - 57,500 
      
Balance at 30 June 2009 21,622,916 10,886 832,088 458,550 (20,685,050) 2,239,390 
       
Loss for the year - - - - (4,322,826) (4,322,826)
Other comprehensive income - - (79,934) - - (79,934)
Total Comprehensive income 
for the year - - (79,934) - (4,322,826) (4,402,760)
Transactions with owners in 
their capacity as owners       
Issue of shares  5,142,791 - - - - 5,142,791 
Share issue expenses (197,160) - - - - (197,160)
Issuance of convertible note - 30,368 - - - 30,368 
Share-based payments (note 25) - - - 75,750 - 75,750 
Balance at 30 June 2010 26,568,547 41,254 752,154 534,300 (25,007,876) 2,888,379 

       
 
 
 
 

The Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the Notes to the Financial Statements. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010 
 
 
 

  NOTES  2010 
$ 

2009 
$ 

 
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 

Receipts from customers 
Payments to suppliers and employees  
Interest and finance lease charges paid 
Interest received 
Research & development tax concession received 

   
 

575,322 
(5,982,787) 

(152,933) 
2,730 

357,352 

 
 

487,402 
(5,421,989) 

(180,080) 
58,813 

380,092 
Net cash flows used in operating activities  21(a) (5,200,316) (4,675,762)
     
 
 
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES 

    

Advances to non-related parties (17,219) (17,543)
Release/(placement) of secured deposit 118,000 (60,000)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment   60,450 10,944 
Payments for property, plant and equipment (88,713) (343,524)

Net cash flows generated from/(used in) investing 
activities 72,518 (410,123)

     
 
 
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES 

    

Proceeds from borrowings – related parties   1,124,523 931,174 
Proceeds from borrowings – insurance premium 
funding 

   
92,096 

 
82,208 

Proceeds from borrowings – others   - 88,518 
Repayment of borrowings – related parties (188,390) (225,000)
Repayment of borrowings  - hire purchase contracts   (330,696) (202,377)
Repayment of borrowings – insurance premium 
funding 

 
(93,395) (105,476)

Proceeds from convertible note   1,700,000 150,000 
Proceeds from share capital raised   4,088,367 1,023,000 
Capital raising costs  (191,259) (15,407)

Net cash flows generated from financing activities   6,201,246 1,726,640 
     
Net increase/(decrease) in cash held 1,073,448 (3,359,245)
Net foreign exchange differences 16,267 (3,022)
Cash at the beginning of the financial year   (1,014,194) 2,348,073 
     
Cash at the end of the financial year 21(c) 75,521 (1,014,194)

 
 
 
 

The Consolidated Statement of Cash Flow should be read in conjunction with the Notes to the Financial Statements. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010 
 
 
 

1. Corporate information 
 

Automotive Technology Group Limited (the “Company”) is a company limited by shares incorporated in Australia 
whose shares are publicly traded on the Australian Stock Exchange. The Company’s registered office is 73 Resource 
Way, Malaga WA 6090. 
 
The consolidated financial statements of the Company as at and for the year ended 30 June 2010 comprise the 
Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the “Group”). The nature of the operations and principal activities 
of the Group are described in the Directors’ Report. 
 
The general purpose consolidated financial statements of Automotive Technology Group Limited for the year ended 30 
June 2010 were authorised for issue and approved by the Board of Directors on 29 September 2010. 

 
2. Significant accounting policies 
 
(a) Statement of compliance 

 
This financial report is a general purpose financial report which complies with Australian Accounting Standards 
(AASBs) (including Australian interpretations) as issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB) and 
the Corporations Act 2001. The financial report also complies with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRSs) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board.  

 
(b) Basis of preparation 

 
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for land and buildings 
which have been measured at fair value. 

 
Apart from the changes in accounting policy noted in note 2(d) below, the accounting policies set out below have been 
applied consistently to all periods presented in these consolidated financial statements, and have been applied 
consistently by Group entities. 

 
Going concern 

 
The consolidated entity has net assets and net current liabilities of $2,888,379 (2009: $2,239,390) and $299,081 (2009: 
$1,151,092) respectively as at 30 June 2010 and incurred a loss of $4,402,760 (2009: $5,473,738) and net operating 
cash outflow of $5,200,316 (2009: $4,675,762) for the year ended 30 June 2010. The consolidated entity's ability to 
continue as a going concern and meet its debts and future commitments as and when they fall due is dependent on a 
number of factors, including:  
 
• the continued support of the Company Financiers to provide sufficient facilities to enable the business to operate 

on a day to day basis; 
• the ability to raise sufficient working capital to ensure the continued implementation of the Company’s long term 

business plan; and 
• delivery of existing and new products through the Group’s distribution network to generate sales revenues and 

positive cash flows. 
 
The financial report has been prepared on a going concern basis. In arriving at this position the directors have had 
regard to the fact that the Company has, or in the directors’ opinion will have access to, sufficient cash to fund 
administrative and other committed expenditure for a period of not less than 12 months from the date of this report.  
 
To strengthen the financial position of the Company as it enters an anticipated growth phase, on 29 September 2010 
the directors resolved to offer shareholders a one for one non-renounceable rights issue at 3 cents per share.  The 
directors have agreed to participate in the rights issue for a minimum of 77,161.074 shares which will raise $2,314,832 
of funds.  These funds will be applied to repay existing advances from directors at 30 September 2010 of $1,253,518 
and provide the Company with $1,061,315 of additional funding.   
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT’D) 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010 

 
 
 

(b) Basis of preparation (cont’d) 
 
The directors have agreed to advance these funds via a loan to the Company by 6 October 2010, while the rights issue 
documentation is prepared. 

 
Should the Group not achieve the matters set out above, there is significant uncertainty whether it will be able to 
continue as a going concern and therefore whether it will be able to pay its debts as and when they fall due and realise 
its assets and extinguish its liabilities in the normal course of business and at the amounts stated in the financial 
statements. 
 
The financial statements do not include any adjustments relating to the recoverability or classification of recorded asset 
amounts, or to the amounts or classification of liabilities that might be necessary should the Consolidated Entity not be 
able to continue as a going concern. 

 
(c) Functional and presentation currency 

 
The financial report is presented in Australian dollars, which is the functional currency and the presentational currency 
of the Company and its Australian subsidiaries. 

 
(d) Adoption of new or revised accounting standards and interpretations 
 

From 1 July 2009 the Group has adopted the following Standards and Interpretations, mandatory for annual periods 
beginning on or after 1 July 2009. 

 
• AASB 3 (Revised) Business Combinations 
• AASB 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures 
• AASB 8 Operating Segments. 
• AASB 101 (Revised) Presentation of Financial Statements. 
• AASB 123 (Revised) Borrowing Costs. 
• AASB 127 (Revised) Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements 
• AASB 1039 (Revised) Concise Reporting 
• AASB 2007-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 8. 
• AASB 2007-6 Amendment to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 123. 
• AASB 2007-8 Amendment to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 101. 
• AASB 2007-10 Further amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 101. 
• AASB 2008-1 Amendment to Australian Accounting Standards Share-based Payments: Vesting Conditions and 

Cancellations. 
• AASB 2008-2 Amendment to Australian Accounting Standards - Puttable Financial Instruments and Obligations 

Arising on Liquidity. 
• AASB 2008-3 Amendment to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 3 and AASB 127 
• AASB 2008-5 Amendment to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Annual Improvements Project. 
• AASB 2008-6 Further Amendment to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Annual Improvements 

Project. 
• AASB 2008-7 Amendment to Australian Accounting Standards – Cost of an Investment in a Subsidiary, Jointly 

Controlled Entity or Associate. 
• AASB Int 16 - Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation. 
• AASB Int 17 and AASB 2008-13 Distributions of Non-Cash Assets to Owners and consequential amendments to 

Australian Accounting Standards AASB 5 and AASB 110 
• AASB Int 18 Transfer of Assets from Customers 
• AASB 2009-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Improving Disclosures about Financial 

Instruments 
• AASB 2009-4 Amendment to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Annual Improvements Project 
• AASB 2009-7 Amendment to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Annual Improvements Project 
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(d) Adoption of new or revised accounting standards and interpretations (cont’d) 

 
While the adoption of the standards and interpretations below resulted in a change in the relevant accounting policies 
of the Group or presentation of the financial statements , neither the adoption of the standards below nor the rest of the 
standards and interpretation of previous page have any effect on the financial position or performance of the Group. 
 
AASB 3 Business Combinations (revised 2008) and AASB 127 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements 
(revised 2008) 
AASB 3 (revised 2008) introduces significant changes in the accounting for business combinations occurring after this 
date. Changes affect the valuation of non-controlling interests (previously “minority interests”), the accounting for 
transaction costs, the initial recognition and subsequent measurement of contingent consideration and business 
combinations achieved in stages. These changes will impact the amount of goodwill recognised, the reported results in 
the period when an acquisition occurs and future reported results. 
 
AASB 127 (revised 2008) requires that a change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary (without a change in control) 
is to be accounted for as a transaction with owners in their capacity as owners. Therefore such transactions will no 
longer give rise to goodwill, nor will they give rise to a gain or loss in the statement of comprehensive income. 
Furthermore the revised Standard changes the accounting for losses incurred by a partially owned subsidiary as well as 
the loss of control of a subsidiary. 
 
The changes in AASB 3 (revised 2008) and AASB 127 (revised 2008) will affect future acquisitions, changes in, and 
loss of control of, subsidiaries and transactions with non-controlling interests.  The change in accounting policy was 
applied prospectively and had no material impact on earnings per share. 
 
AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements 
The revised Standard separates owner and non-owner changes in equity.  The statement of changes in equity includes 
only details of transactions with owners, with non-owner changes in equity presented in a reconciliation of each 
component of equity and included in the new statement of comprehensive income. The statement of comprehensive 
income presents all items of recognised income and expense, either in one single statement, or in two linked 
statements. The Group has elected to present one statement. 
 
AASB 8 Operating Segments 
AASB 8 replaced AASB 114 Segment Reporting upon its effective date. The Group concluded that the operating 
segments determined in accordance with AASB 8 are the same as the business segments previously identified under 
AASB 114. 
 
At the date of authorisation of this financial report, the following standards and interpretations, applicable to the Group 
were in issue but not yet effective and have not been early adopted by the Group: 
 
Effective for financial period on or after 1 January 2010: 
• AASB 2009-5 Further Amendment to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Annual Improvements 

Project 
• AASB 2009-8 Group cash-settled share-based payment transactions  

Effective for financial period on or after 1 February 2010: 
• AASB 2009-10 Amendments to AASB 132 - Classification of Rights Issue 

Effective for financial period on or after 1 July 2010: 
• Int 19 Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity Instruments 
• AASB 2009-13 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from Int 19  
• AASB 2010-3 to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Annual Improvements Project 
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(d) Adoption of new or revised accounting standards and interpretations (cont’d) 

 
Effective for financial period on or after 1 January 2011: 
• AASB 2009-12 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards relating to Related Party Disclosures 
• AASB 2009-14 Amendments to Int 14 - Prepayments of a Minimum Funding Requirement 
• AASB 2010-4 Further Amendment to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Annual Improvements 

Project 
Effective for financial period on or after 1 January 2013: 
• AASB 9 Financial Instruments 
• AASB 2009-11 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 Financial Instruments: 

Classifications and Measurement 
 
The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what the impact of these standards and interpretations is 
expected to be in the period of initial application. 

 
(e) Basis of consolidation 

 
Subsequent to 1 July 2009 
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. Control exists when the Group has the power to govern the financial 
and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. In assessing control, potential voting 
rights that presently are exercisable are taken into account. The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the 
consolidated financial statements from the date that control commences until the date that control ceases. 
 
The financial statements of subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as the parent Company, using 
consistent accounting policies. Adjustments are made to bring into line any dissimilar accounting policies that may 
exist.  Intra-group balances, and any unrealised income and expenses arising from intra-group transactions, are 
eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated financial statements. 
 
Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost in the separate financial statements of the parent entity less any 
impairment charges. Dividends received from subsidiaries are recorded as a component of other revenues in the 
separate statement of comprehensive income of the parent entity, and do not impact the recorded cost of the 
investment. Upon receipt of dividend payments from subsidiaries, the parent will assess whether any indicators of 
impairment of the carrying value of the investment in the subsidiary exist. Where such indicators exist, to the extent 
that the carrying value of the investment exceeds its recoverable amount, an impairment loss is recognised. 
 
The acquisition of subsidiaries is accounted for using the acquisition method of accounting. The acquisition method of 
accounting involves recognising at acquisition date, separately from goodwill, the identifiable assets acquired, the 
liabilities assumed and any non-controlling interest in the acquiree. The identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities 
assumed are measured at their acquisition date fair values (see note 2(f)). 
 
The difference between the above items and the fair value of the consideration (including the fair value of any pre-
existing investment in the acquiree) is goodwill or a discount on acquisition.  
 
A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary that does not result in a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity 
transaction. 
 
Non-controlling interests are allocated their share of net profit after tax in the statement of comprehensive income and 
are presented within equity in the consolidated statement of financial position, separately from the equity of the owners 
of the parent. 
 
Losses are attributed to the non-controlling interest even if that results in a deficit balance. 
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(e) Basis of consolidation (cont’d) 
 

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it 
• Derecognises the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary. 
• Derecognises the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest. 
• Derecognises the cumulative translation differences, recorded in equity. 
• Recognises the fair value of the consideration received. 
• Recognises the fair value of any investment retained. 
• Recognises any surplus or deficit in profit or loss. 
• Reclassifies the parent's share of components previously recognised in other comprehensive income to profit or 

loss. 
 
There is no non-controlling interest in any subsidiary of the Group. 
 
Prior to 1 July 2009 
In comparison to the above mentioned requirements which were applied on a prospective basis from 1 July 2009, the 
following differences applied: 
 
• Non-controlling interests (formerly known as minority interests) represented the portion of profit or loss and net 

assets of a subsidiary that were not wholly-owned by the Group and were presented separately in the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income and within equity in the consolidated statement of financial position, 
separately from parent shareholders' equity. Acquisitions of non-controlling interests were accounted for using 
the parent entity extension method, whereby, the difference between the consideration and the book value of the 
share of the net assets acquired was recognised in goodwill. 

• Losses incurred by the Group were attributed to the non-controlling interest until the balance was reduced to nil. 
Any further excess losses were attributed to the parent, unless the non-controlling interest had a binding 
obligation to cover these. 

• Upon loss of control, the Group accounted for the investment retained at its proportionate share of net asset value 
at the date control was lost. 

 
(f) Business combinations  
 

Subsequent to 1 July 2009 
Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a business 
combination shall be measured at fair value, which shall be calculated as the sum of the acquisition date fair values of 
the assets transferred by the acquirer, the liabilities incurred by the acquirer to former owners of the acquiree and the 
equity issued by the acquirer, and the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree. For each business 
combination, the acquirer measures the non-controlling interest in the acquiree either at fair value or at the 
proportionate share of the acquiree's identifiable net assets. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred. 
 
When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate 
classification and designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic conditions, the Group’s operating or 
accounting policies and other pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the separation of embedded 
derivatives in host contracts by the acquiree. 
 
If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date fair value of the acquirer's previously held equity 
interest in the acquiree is remeasured at fair value as at the acquisition date through profit or loss. 
 
Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer will be recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. 
Subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration which is deemed to be an asset or liability will be 
recognised in accordance with AASB 139 either in profit or loss or in other comprehensive income. If the contingent 
consideration is classified as equity, it shall not be remeasured. 
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(f) Business combinations (cont’d) 
 
Prior to 1 July 2009 
The purchase method of accounting is used to account for all business combinations regardless of whether equity 
instruments or other assets are acquired. Cost is measured as the fair value of the assets given, shares issued or 
liabilities incurred or assumed at the date of exchange plus costs directly attributable to the combination. Where equity 
instruments are issued in a business combination, the fair value of the instruments is their published market price as at 
the date of exchange. Transaction costs arising on the issue of equity instruments are recognised directly in equity. 
 
Except for non-current assets or disposal groups classified as held for sale (which are measured at fair value less costs 
to sell), all identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are 
measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. The excess of the cost of the business combination over 
the net fair value of the Group’s share of the identifiable net assets acquired is recognised as goodwill. If the cost of 
acquisition is less than the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable net assets of the subsidiary, the 
difference is recognised as a gain in the income statement, but only after a reassessment of the identification and 
measurement of the net assets acquired. 
 
Where settlement of any part of the consideration is deferred, the amounts payable in the future are discounted to their 
present value as at the date of exchange. The discount rate used is the entity’s incremental borrowing rate, being the 
rate at which a similar borrowing could be obtained from an independent financier under comparable terms and 
conditions. 

 
(g) Operating segments 

 
An operating segment is a component of an entity that engages in business activities from which it may earn revenues 
and incur expenses (including revenues and expenses relating to transactions with other components of the same 
entity), whose operating results are regularly reviewed by the entity's chief operating decision maker to make decisions 
about resources to be allocated to the segment and assess its performance and for which discrete financial information 
is available. This includes start up operations which are yet to earn revenues. Management will also consider other 
factors in determining operating segments such as the existence of a line manager and the level of segment information 
presented to the board of directors. 
 
Operating segments have been identified based on the information provided to the chief operating decision makers, 
being the executive management team. 
 
The Group is operating in one segment, being the manufacture and distribution of the patented range of Sprintex® 
superchargers and Vee Two aftermarket and performance motorcycle accessories based on the similarity of activity 
type, nature of products sold, production processes, type of customers for the product and methods used to distribute 
the product. 
 

(h) Foreign currency translation 
 

Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded in the functional currency at the exchange rates ruling at the 
date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities are retranslated at the rate of exchange ruling at the reporting 
date.  All exchange differences in the financial report are taken to the profit or loss.  Non-monetary items that are 
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rate as at the date of the 
initial transaction. 
 
On consolidation, the assets and liabilities of the overseas subsidiary are translated into the presentation currency of 
Automotive Technology Group Limited at the rate of exchange ruling at the reporting date and the results are 
transferred at the average rate for the year.  Exchange variations resulting from the translation are recognised in the 
foreign currency translation reserve in equity. 
 

 



 

   32 

A U T O M O T I V E  T E C H N O L O G Y  G R O U P  L I M I T E D  
A N D  C O N T R O L L E D  E N T I T I E S  

 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT’D) 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010 
 

 
 

(i) Revenue recognition 
 

Revenue is recognised and measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable to the extent that it is 
probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue can be reliably measured. The following 
specific recognition criteria must also be met before revenue is recognised. 
 
Sale of Goods 
Revenue is recognised when the significant risks and rewards of the goods have passed to the buyer and can be 
measured reliably. Risks and rewards are considered passed to the buyer at the time of delivery of the goods to the 
customer. 
 
Interest 
Revenue is recognised as the interest accrues using the effective interest method. 

 
Effective interest method is a method of calculating the annualised cost of a financial asset or liability and allocating 
the interest income or expense over the relevant period using the effective interest rate, which is the rate that exactly 
discounts estimated future cash receipts or payments through the expected life of the financial instrument to the net 
carrying amount of the financial asset or liability. 
 

(i) Income tax 
 

Current tax 
Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be recovered 
from or paid to the taxation authorities based on the current period’s taxable income. The tax rates and tax laws used to 
compute the amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date. 

 
Deferred tax 
Deferred income tax is provided on all temporary differences at the reporting date between the tax bases of assets and 
liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes. 
 
Deferred income tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences except: 
 
• where the deferred income tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or of an asset or liability in a 

transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting 
profit nor taxable profit; or 

• When the taxable temporary differences are associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and interests in 
joint ventures, and the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference can be controlled and it is probable that 
the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 

 
Deferred income tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, carry-forward of unused tax credits 
and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible 
temporary differences and the carry-forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except: 
 
• when the deferred income tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the initial 

recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the 
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; or 

• when the deductible temporary difference is associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates or interests in 
joint ventures, in which case a deferred tax asset is only recognised to the extent that it is probable that the 
temporary difference will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against which the 
temporary difference can be utilised. 

 
The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it is 
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred income tax asset to 
be utilised. 
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(j) Income tax (cont’d) 

 
Unrecognised deferred income tax assets are reassessed at each reporting date and are recognised to the extent that it 
has become probable that future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered. 
 
Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities shall be offset only if: 

 
(a) there is a legally enforceable right to set-off current tax assets against current tax liabilities; and  
(b) the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on 

either: 
(i) the same taxable entity; or 
(ii) different taxable entities which intend either to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to 

realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in which significant 
amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or recovered. 

 
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the year when the 
asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantially 
enacted at the reporting date. 
 
Income taxes relating to items recognised directly in equity are recognised in equity and not in the income statement. 
 
Tax consolidation legislation 
The Company and its wholly-owned Australian controlled entities implemented the tax consolidation legislation as of 1 
July 2004. 
 
The head entity, Automotive Technology Group Limited and the controlled entities in the tax consolidated group 
continue to account for their own current and deferred tax amounts. The Group has applied the group allocation 
approach in determining the appropriate amount of current taxes and deferred taxes to allocate to members of the tax 
consolidated group. 
 
In addition to its own current and deferred tax amounts, the Company also recognises the current tax liabilities (or 
assets) and the deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses and unused tax credits assumed from controlled 
entities in the tax consolidated group. 

 
(k) Other taxes 
 

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of Goods and Services Tax (“GST”) except: 
 

(a) where the GST on a purchase of goods and services is not recoverable from the taxation authority, in which case 
the GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense item as applicable; 
and 

(b) Receivables and payables are stated with amounts of GST included. 
 

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of receivables or 
payables in the statement of financial position. 

 
Cash flows are included in the Cash Flow Statement on a gross basis and the GST component of cash flows arising 
from investing and financial activities, which are recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority, are classified 
as operating cash flows. 
 
Commitments or contingencies are disclosed net of the amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation 
authority. 
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(l) Loss per share 

 
Basic loss per share 
Basic loss per share is determined by dividing net profit after income tax attributable to members of the Company, 
excluding any costs of servicing equity other than ordinary shares, by the weighted average number of ordinary shares 
outstanding during the financial year, adjusted for bonus elements in ordinary shares issued during the year. 

 
Diluted loss per share 
Diluted loss per share adjusts the figures used in the determination of basic loss per share to take into account the after 
income tax effect of interest and other financing costs associated with dilutive potential ordinary shares and the 
weighted average number of shares assumed to have been issued for no consideration in relation to dilutive potential 
ordinary shares. 

 
(m) Cash and cash equivalents 

 
Cash and short-term deposits in the statement of financial position comprise cash at bank and in hand and short-term 
deposits with an original maturity date of twelve months or less that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash 
and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash 
and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents as defined above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts. Bank 
overdrafts are included within interest-bearing liabilities in current liabilities on the statement of financial position. 

 
(n) Trade and other receivables 

 
Trade receivables, which generally have 0-30 day terms are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently 
measured at amortised cost using effective interest method (note 2 (i) above), less an allowance for impairment. 
 
Collectability of trade receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis at an operating unit level. Individual debts that are 
known to be uncollectible are written off when identified. An impairment provision is recognised when there is 
objective evidence that the Group will not be able to collect the receivable. Financial difficulties of the debtor, default 
payments or debts more than 60 days overdue are considered objective evidence of impairment. The amount of the 
impairment loss is the receivable carrying amount compared to the present value of estimated future cash flows, 
discounted at the original effective interest rate. 

 
(o) Inventories 

 
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or net realisable value.  Costs incurred in bringing each product to its present 
location and conditions are accounted for as follows: 

 
Raw materials – purchase cost on a first in, first out basis.  
 
Finished goods and work in progress – cost of direct materials and labour and a proportion of manufacturing overheads 
based on normal operating capacity but excluding borrowing costs.  Costs are assigned on a first in, first out basis. 
 
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated costs of completion 
and estimated costs necessary to make the sale. 

 
(p) Investments and other financial assets 

 
Investments and financial assets in the scope of AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement are 
categorised as either financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans and receivables, held-to-maturity 
investments, or available-for-sale financial assets. The classification depends on the purpose for which the investments 
were acquired. Designation is re-evaluated at each financial year end, but there are restrictions on reclassifying to other 
categories.  
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(p) Investments and other financial assets (cont’d) 
 

When financial assets are recognised initially, they are measured at fair value, plus, in the case of assets not at fair 
value through profit or loss, directly attributable transaction costs. 

 
Recognition and derecognition 
All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade date ie the date that the Group 
commits to purchase the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets under contracts 
that require delivery of the assets within the period established generally by regulation or convention in the market 
place. Financial assets are derecognised when the right to receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired or 
been transferred. 
 
Loans and receivables  
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an 
active market.  Such assets are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method (note 2(i) above).  Gains 
and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the loans and receivables are derecognised or impaired. These are 
included in current assets, except for those with maturities greater than 12 months after balance date, which are 
classified as non-current. 

 
(q) Property, plant and equipment 

 
Recognition 
Plant and equipment and leasehold improvements are carried at cost, less accumulated depreciation/amortisation and 
any impairment in value.  Such cost includes the cost of replacing parts that are eligible for capitalisation when the cost 
of replacing the parts is incurred. Similarly, when each major inspection is performed, its cost is recognised in the 
carrying amount of the plant and equipment as a replacement only if it is eligible for capitalisation. All other repairs 
and maintenance are recognised in profit or loss as incurred. 

 
Land and buildings are measured at fair value, based on periodic but at least triennial valuations by external 
independent valuer who apply the International Valuations Standards Committee International Valuation Standards, 
less accumulated depreciation on buildings and less any impairment losses recognised after the date of the revaluation. 

 
Depreciation & amortisation 
Depreciation is calculated on a diminishing value basis over the estimated useful life of the asset as follows: 

 Building Improvements: 0-30% 
 Plant and Equipment: 15% 
 Engineering Equipment and Software: 15-37.5% 
 Furniture and Office Equipment: 7.5-37.5% 
 Motor Vehicles: 18.75% 
 Leasehold Improvements: 30% 
 

The assets’ residual values, useful lives and amortisation method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each 
financial year end. 
 
Revaluations of land and buildings 
Any revaluation increment is credited to the asset revaluation reserve included in equity, except to the extent that it 
reverses a revaluation decrement for the same asset previously recognised in profit or loss, in which case the increment 
is recognised in profit or loss.  Any revaluation decrement is recognised in profit or loss, except to the extent that it 
offsets a previous revaluation increment for the same asset, in which case the decrement is debited directly to the asset 
revaluation reserve to the extent of the credit balance existing in the revaluation reserve for that asset. 
 
Any accumulated depreciation as at the revaluation date is eliminated against the gross carrying amounts of the assets 
and the net amounts are restated to the revalued amounts of the assets. 
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(q) Property, plant and equipment (cont’d) 
 

Gains and losses on disposal are determined by comparing proceeds with the carrying amount. These are included in 
the income statement. 
 
Upon disposal or derecognition, any revaluation reserve relating to the particular asset being sold is transferred to 
retained earnings. 

 
Derecognition 
An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no further future economic benefits 
are expected from its use or disposal. 

 
(r) Leases 
 

Leases are classified at their inception as either operating or finance leases based on the economic substance of the 
agreement so as to reflect the risks and benefits incidental to ownership. 

 
Operating leases 
The minimum lease payments made under operating leases are charged against profit or loss in equal instalments over 
the accounting periods covered by the lease term where the lessor effectively retains substantially all of the risks and 
benefits of ownership of the leased item. 
 
The cost of improvements to or on leasehold property is capitalised, disclosed as leasehold improvements and 
amortised over the shorter of the estimated useful life of the asset or the lease term.  

 
Finance leases 
Leases which effectively transfer substantially all of the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the leased item to 
the Group are capitalised at the inception of the lease at the fair value of the leased asset, or, if lower, at the present 
value of the minimum lease payments and disclosed as property, plant and equipment under lease. A lease liability of 
equal value is also recognised. 
 
Capitalised lease assets are depreciated over the shorter of the estimated useful life of the assets and the lease term. 
Minimum lease payments are allocated between interest expense and reduction of the lease liability with the interest 
expense calculated using the interest rate implicit in the lease and recognised directly in net profit. 

 
(s) Impairment of non-financial assets other than goodwill 
 

Intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for 
impairment or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that they might be impaired. Other assets 
are tested for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be 
recoverable. 
 
At each reporting date, management assess whether there is any indication that an asset may be impaired, where an 
indicator of impairment exists, management makes a formal estimate of recoverable amount. Where the carrying 
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount the asset is considered impaired and is written down to its 
recoverable amount. 
 
Recoverable amount is the greater of fair value less cost to sell and value in use. It is determined for an individual 
asset, unless the asset’s value in use cannot be estimated to be close to its fair value less costs to sell and it does not 
generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets, in which case, the 
recoverable amount is determined for the cash- generating unit to which the asset belongs.  In assessing value in use, 
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current 
market assessment of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. 
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(t) Goodwill and intangibles 

 
Goodwill 
Goodwill acquired in a business combination is initially measured at cost being the excess of the costs of the business 
combination over the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and 
contingent liabilities. Following initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment 
losses. 
 
Goodwill is reviewed for impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate the 
carrying value may be impaired. 
 
For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in business combination is, from the acquisition date, 
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the 
combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the Group are assigned to those units or groups of 
units. Each unit or group of units to which the goodwill is so allocated represents the lowest level within the Group at 
which the goodwill is monitored for the internal management purposes; and is not larger than an operating segment 
determined in accordance with AASB 8.  The Company operates in one cash-generating unit and therefore goodwill 
was allocated to the Company as a whole. 
 
Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the goodwill 
related. When the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss 
is recognised. 
 
When goodwill forms part of a cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) and an operation within that unit 
is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the 
operation when determining the gain or loss on disposal of the operation. Goodwill disposed of in this manner is 
measured based on the relative values of the operation disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating unit retained. 
 
Impairment losses recognised for goodwill are not subsequently reversed. 
 
Intangibles 
Intangible assets acquired separately or in a business combination are initially measured at cost. The cost of an 
intangible asset acquired in a business combination is its fair value as at the date of acquisition. Following initial 
recognition, intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment 
losses. Internally generated intangible assets, excluding capitalised development costs, are not capitalised and 
expenditure is recognised in profit or loss in the year in which the expenditure is incurred. 

 
The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives are 
amortised over the useful life and tested for impairment whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may be 
impaired (see note 2(s) for methodology). The amortisation period and the amortisation method for an intangible asset 
with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at each financial year-end. Changes in the expected useful life or the 
expected pattern of consumption of future economic benefits embodied in the asset are accounted for prospectively by 
changing the amortisation period or method, as appropriate, which is a change in accounting estimate. The amortisation 
expense on intangible assets with finite lives is recognised in profit or loss in the expense category consistent with the 
function of the intangible asset. 
 
Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for impairment annually either individually or at the cash-
generating unit level consistent with the methodology outlined for goodwill above. Such intangibles are not amortised. 
The useful life of an intangible asset with an indefinite life is reviewed each reporting period to determine whether 
indefinite life assessment continues to be supportable. If not, the change in the useful life assessment from indefinite to 
finite is accounted for as a change in an accounting estimate and is thus accounted for on a prospective basis. 
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(t) Goodwill and intangibles (cont’d) 
 
Research and development costs 
Research costs are expensed as incurred. An intangible asset arising from development expenditure on an internal 
project is recognised only when the Group can demonstrate the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset 
so that it will be available for use or sale, its intention to complete and its ability to use or sell the asset, how the asset 
will generate future economic benefits, the availability of resources to complete the development and the ability to 
measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its development. Following the initial 
recognition of the development expenditure, the cost model is applied requiring the asset to be carried at cost less any 
accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. Any expenditure so capitalised is amortised over the 
period of expected benefit from the related project. 
 
The carrying value of an intangible asset arising from development expenditure is tested for impairment annually when 
the asset is not yet available for use, or more frequently when an indication of impairment arises during the reporting 
period. 
 
The Group’s intangible asset represents acquired intellectual property – patents are amortised over the remaining life 
on a straight line basis. 

 
(u) Trade and other payables 
 

Trade and other payables are carried at amortised cost.  Due to their short term nature they are not discounted. They 
represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Group prior to the end of financial year which are unpaid 
and arise when the Group becomes obliged to make future payments in respect of the purchase of these goods and 
services. The amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of recognition. 

 
(v) Convertible notes 
 

Convertible notes are compound financial instruments where interest are calculated and payable periodically in arrears. 
The component parts of compound instruments issued by the Group are classified separately as financial liabilities and 
equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangement.  At the date of issue, the fair value of the 
liability component is estimated using the prevailing market interest rate for a similar non-convertible instrument.  This 
amount is recorded as a liability on an amortised cost basis using the effective interest method (note 2(i) above) until 
extinguished upon conversion or at the instrument’s maturity date.  The increase in the liability due to the passage of 
time is recognised as a finance cost. 
 
The equity component is determined by deducting the amount of the liability component from the fair value of the 
compound instrument as a whole.  This is recognised and included in equity, net of income tax effects, and is not 
subsequently remeasured. 
 
Transaction costs are apportioned between the liability and equity components of the convertible note based on the 
allocation of proceeds to the liability and equity components when the instruments are first recognised. 
 

(w) Interest-bearing loans and borrowings  
 
All loans and borrowings are initially recognised at the fair value of the consideration received less directly attributable 
transaction costs. 
 
After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method. Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities that are yield related are included as part of 
the carrying amount of the loans and borrowings. 
 
Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the 
liability for at least 12 months after the reporting date. 
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(x) Borrowing costs 

 
Borrowing costs are recognised as an expense when incurred, except where they are directly attributable to the 
acquisition or construction of qualifying assets (i.e. an asset that necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get 
ready for its intended use or sale), in which case they are capitalised as part of the cost of that asset. Borrowing costs 
consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds. The Group does not 
currently hold qualifying assets. 

 
(y) Provisions 

 
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it 
is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a 
reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. 
 
Where the Group expects some or all of a provision to be reimbursed, for example under and insurance contract, the 
reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset but only when the reimbursement is virtually certain. The expense 
relating to any provision is presented in the income statement net of any reimbursement. 
 
If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash 
flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and, where appropriate, the 
risks specific to the liability. 

 
Service warranties 
Provision is made for the estimated liability on all products still under warranty at balance date. The amount of the 
provision is the present value of the estimated cash flows expected to be required to settle the warranty obligations, 
having regard to the service warranty experience over the last two years and the risks of the warranty obligations. The 
provision is not discounted to its present value as the effect of discounting is not material. 

 
(z) Employee leave benefits 

 
Wages, salaries, annual leave and non-monetary benefits 
Provision is made for the employee benefits accumulated as a result of the employee rendering services up to the 
reporting date. These benefits including on costs due to be settled within one year, together with benefits arising from 
wages and salaries, annual leave and non-monetary benefits which will be settled after one year, are measured at their 
nominal amounts based on remuneration rates which are due to be paid when the liability is settled. 

 
Long service leave 
Long service leave including on costs, payable later than one year have been measured at the present value of 
estimated future cash outflows to be made for those benefits using the projected unit credit method. Consideration is 
given to expected future wage and salary levels, experience of employee departures, and periods of service. Expected 
future payments are discounted using market yields at the reporting date on national government bonds with terms to 
maturity and currencies that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows. 

 
Retirement benefit obligations 
The Group contributes to various superannuation plans in accordance with and at rates set down by law. Some 
employees contribute to these plans at differing percentages of their salaries. 

 
The Group’s contributions and costs are charged as an expense as incurred. 
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(aa) Share based payment transactions 

 
The Group operates an Employee Share Option Plan (ESOP), which provides benefits to employees (including 
Directors) of the Group in the form of share based payment transactions, whereby employees render services in 
exchange for shares or rights over shares (“equity settled transactions”). 
 
The cost of these equity settled transactions with employees is measured by reference to the fair value at the date at 
which they are granted. An external valuer using Black Scholes model determines the fair value, which takes into 
account the factors including the option exercise price, the current level and volatility of the underlying share price, the 
risk-free interest rate, expected dividends on the underlying share, current market price of the underlying share, the 
expected life of the option, and any barriers associated with vesting. 
 
The fair value of equity settled transactions is recognised, together with a corresponding increase in equity, over the 
period in which the performance conditions are fulfilled, ending on the date on which the relevant employees become 
fully entitled to the option (‘vesting date’). 
 
The cumulative expense recognised for equity settled transactions at each reporting date until vesting reflects: 

 
(a) the grant date fair value of the award, 
(b) the extent to which the vesting period has expired, and 
(c) the number of options that, in the opinion of the Directors of the Group, will ultimately vest. This opinion is 

formed based on the best available information at balance date. No adjustment is made for the likelihood of 
market performance conditions being met as the effect of these conditions is included in the determination of 
fair value at grant date. 

 
No expense is recognised for options that do not ultimately vest, except for options where vesting is conditional upon a 
market condition. 

 
Where the terms of an equity settled option are modified, as a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had 
not been modified. In addition, an expense is recognised for any increase in the value of the transaction as a result of 
the modification, as measured at the date of modification. 
 
Where an equity settled option is cancelled, it is treated as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense 
not yet recognised for the option is recognised immediately. However, if a new option is substituted for the cancelled 
option, and designated as a replacement option on the date that it is granted, the cancelled and new option are treated as 
if they were a modification of the original option, as described in the previous paragraph. 
 
The dilutive effect, if any, of outstanding options is reflected as additional share dilution in the computation of earnings 
per share. 
 
Equity-settled share-based payments transactions with other parties are measured at the fair value of the goods or 
services received, except where the fair value cannot be estimated reliably, in which case they are measured at the fair 
value of the equity instruments granted, measured at the date the entity obtains the goods or the counterparty renders 
the service. 
 

(ab) Contributed equity  
 

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are 
shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds. 
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3. Significant accounting estimates, assumptions and judgements 

 
The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions in 
relation to assets, liabilities, contingent liabilities, revenue and expenses that affect the reported amounts in the 
financial statements. Estimations and judgements are continually evaluated by management and are based on historical 
experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that may have a financial impact on the entity and 
that are believe to be reasonable under the circumstances. 
 

(a) Significant accounting judgements 
 

The following are the critical judgements that the directors have made in the process of applying the entity’s 
accounting policies and that have the most significant effect of the amounts recognised in financial statements: 

 
Impairment of non-financial assets other than goodwill 
The Group assesses impairment of all assets including intangible assets with definite useful lives at each reporting date 
by evaluating conditions specific to the Group and to the particular asset that may lead to impairment. These include 
product and manufacturing performance, technology, economic and political environments and future product 
expectations. If an impairment trigger exists the recoverable amount of the asset is determined. Given the current 
uncertain economic environment, these assets have been tested for impairment in this financial period. 
 
Taxation 
The Group's accounting policy for taxation requires management's judgement in assessing whether deferred tax assets 
and certain deferred tax liabilities are recognised on the statement of financial position. Deferred tax assets, including 
those arising from unrecouped tax losses, capital losses and temporary differences, are recognised only where it is 
considered more likely than not that they will be recovered, which is dependent on the generation of sufficient future 
taxable profits. 
 
Assumptions about the generation of future taxable profits and repatriation of retained earnings depend on 
management's estimates of future cash flows. These depend on estimates of future production and sales volumes, 
operating costs, capital expenditure, dividends and other capital management transactions. Judgements are also 
required about the application of income tax legislation. These judgements and assumptions are subject to risk and 
uncertainty, hence there is a possibility that changes in circumstances will alter expectations, which may impact the 
amount of deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities in respect of tax losses and temporary differences not yet 
recognised. In such circumstances, some or all of the carrying amounts of unrecognised deferred tax assets and 
liabilities may require adjustment, resulting in a corresponding credit or charge to the income statement. 

 
(b) Significant estimates and assumptions 

 
The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by 
definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing 
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are: 

 
Share based payment transactions 
The cost of share based payments to employees and consultants for the year ended 30 June 2008 was measured by 
reference to the fair value of the equity instruments at the date at which they are granted, the fair value was determined 
with assistance of an external valuer, using the Black Scholes formula, taking into accounts the terms and conditions 
upon which the instruments were granted. The accounting estimates and assumptions relating to equity-settled share-
based payments would have no impact on the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next annual reporting 
period but may impact expenses and equity. 
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(b) Significant estimates and assumptions (cont’d) 

 
Impairment of goodwill 
The Company determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on an annual basis. This requires an estimation of the 
recoverable amount of the cash-generating units, using a value in use discounted cash flow methodology, to which the 
goodwill is allocated. No impairment loss was recognised in the current year. The assumptions used in this estimation 
of recoverable amount and the carrying amount of goodwill are discussed in note 14. 
 
Warranty provision 
In determining the level of provision required for product warranties the Group has made judgements in respect of the 
expected performance of the product, number of customers who will actually use the warranty and how often, and the 
costs of fulfilling the performance of the service warranty. Historical experience and current knowledge of the 
performance of products has been used in determining this provision. The related carrying amounts are disclosed in 
note 17. Any increase or decrease in the provision would affect profit or loss in future years. 

 
Research and Development tax concession 
The Group's accounting policy for research and development tax claim requires management's judgement in assessing 
whether the tax claim is probable.  Historical experience of the successfulness of prior years’ claims has been used in 
determining the amount recognised in the income statement as research and development tax benefit. 
 

4. Segment information 
 
(a) Identification of reportable segments 
 

The Group identifies its operating segments based on the internal reports that are reviewed and used by the executive 
management team (chief operating decision makers) in assessing performance and in determining the allocation of 
resources.  Operating segments are identified by management based on the similarity of the products produced and 
sold. 
 
The Group is operating in one segment, being the manufacture and distribution of the patented range of Sprintex® 
superchargers and Vee Two aftermarket and performance motorcycle accessories. 
 
The accounting policies applied for internal reporting purposes are consistent with those applied in the preparation of 
the financial statements. 

 
(b) Geographic information and major customers 

 
  2010 

$ 
2009 

$ 
     

Australia   335,772 307,612 
Japan 63,562 18,494 
Germany   57,938 29,994 
United States   44,455 47,169 
United Kingdom  19,213 17,865 
Other countries  58,998 42,583 
Total revenue  579,938 463,717 

 
The revenue information above is based on the location of the customer.  During the years ended 2009 and 2010, no 
customer accounted for more than 10% or more of the Group’s revenue. 
 

(c) Location of non-current assets 
 
Non-current assets for this purpose consist of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets.  All non-current 
assets of the Group are located in Australia. 



 

   43 

A U T O M O T I V E  T E C H N O L O G Y  G R O U P  L I M I T E D  
A N D  C O N T R O L L E D  E N T I T I E S  

 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT’D) 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010 
 
 

 

5. Revenue and expenses 
  2010 

$ 
2009 

$ 
     

Other revenue 
Interest income 

 
2,730 

 
58,813

     
Other income/(losses)     
Gain/(loss) on disposal of property, plant and equipment 
Net foreign exchange gain /(loss) 

 9,308 
6,475 

(4,219) 
(1,950)

  15,783 (6,169)
     
Employee payments including benefits     
  Salaries and wages   1,852,530 2,042,098 
  Superannuation expense   157,978 180,540 
  Annual leave and long service leave   26,048 2,567 
  Other employment expense   100,481 199,098 
   2,137,037 2,424,303 
 Less: Research & development staff costs (530,831) (609,671)
Total employee payments   1,606,206 1,814,632 
     
Research & development expenses     
  Research and development staff costs   530,831 609,671 
  Consultant costs   195,409  201,830 
  Materials/services costs   1,065,921  1,659,384 
  Testing costs   10,473 - 
  Travel expenses   -   26,303 
Total research & development expenses   1,802,634 2,497,188 
     
Depreciation and amortisation expenses     
  Depreciation of property, plant and equipment   289,752 322,500 
  Amortisation for leasehold improvements   33,622 43,129 
  Amortisation for trademarks and patents   18,210 - 
Total depreciation and amortisation   341,584 365,629 
     
Other expenses     
  Share based payments   129,024 57,500 
  Provision for inventory   152,600 653,442 
Total other expenses   281,624 710,942 
     
Finance costs     
  Interest and finance charges paid 
  Convertible note interest 

  140,219 
31,206 

172,101 
7,979 

Total finance costs   171,425 180,080 
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   2010 

$ 
2009 

$ 
6. Income tax 
     
(a) Income tax credit     

The major components of income tax credit are:     
     

Current income tax     
Research and development tax benefit   367,352 700,092 
Deferred income tax     
Relating to origination and reversal of temporary differences   - 21,967 
Recognition of tax losses - (21,967)
   367,352 700,092 
     

(b) Numerical reconciliation between aggregate tax credit 
recognised in the income statement and tax expense 
calculated per the statutory income tax rate 

 
Loss before income tax expense (4,690,178) (6,173,830)
Income tax calculated at statutory tax rate of 30% (2008: 30%) (1,407,053) (1,852,149)
Tax effect of amounts which are not deductible in calculating 
taxable income 
Share based payments 
Tax effect of amount which are not assessable in calculating 
taxable income 

   
749 

30,525 
 

(9,144) 

 
2,603 

17,250 
 

- 
Tax losses and temporary differences not recognised 
Research and development tax benefit 

  1,384,923 
367,352 

1,832,296 
700,092 

 Aggregate income tax benefit   367,352 700,092 
 

The franking account balance at year end was $Nil (2009: $Nil) 
 
(c) Unrecognised temporary differences 

 
At 30 June 2010, there are no unrecognised temporary differences associated with the Group's investments in 
subsidiaries as the Group has no liability for additional taxation should unremitted earnings be remitted (2009: $nil). 
 

(d) Deferred tax assets and liabilities 
 

The components of deferred tax assets/(liabilities) recognised in the statement of financial position and the movements 
during the year are as follows: 

 

CONSOLIDATED 

Property, 
plant and 

equipment 
Intellectual 

property Inventory Provisions 

Capital 
raising 
costs Others Tax losses Total 

 $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 
At 1 July 2008 (340,644) 98,229 69,229 32,116 87,413 31,690 21,967 - 
Charge/(credit) to income  67,176 (98,229) 139,550 (32,116) (18,716) (35,698) (21,967) - 
At 30 June 2009 (273,468) - 208,779 - 68,697 (4,008) - - 
Charge/(credit) to income  25,708 - (21,850) - (20,574) 16,716 - - 
At 30 June 2010 (247,760) - 186,929 - 48,123 12,708 - - 
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6. Income tax (cont’d) 

 
(d) Deferred tax assets and liabilities (cont’d) 
 

At 30 June 2010, the Group has unused tax losses and deductible temporary differences of $22,331,332 (2009: 
$18,146,082) and $1,633,445 (2009: $1,639,001) respectively available for offset against future profits.  A deferred tax 
asset of $884,037 (2009: $938,948) has been recognised in respect of the temporary differences.  No deferred tax asset 
has been recognised in respect of the tax losses and the remaining deductible temporary differences of $845,988 (2009: 
$700,053) due to the unpredictability of future profit streams.  Such losses may be carried forward indefinitely subject 
to meeting relevant statutory tests. 

 
7. Loss per share 
 

The calculation of basic loss per share is based on the net loss from ordinary activities attributable to equity holders of 
the Company for the year of $4,322,826 (2009: $5,793,738) and the weighted average of 175,832,028 (2009: 
105,464,844) ordinary shares in issue during the year. 
 
Diluted loss per share amount for the year was the same as the basic loss per share as the share options outstanding 
(note 25) and convertible note (note 16) as at 30 June 2010 which are considered to be potential ordinary shares had 
anti-dilutive effects on the basic loss per share. 
 
Transactions involving ordinary shares or potential ordinary shares that would change the number of ordinary shares or 
potential ordinary shares outstanding between the reporting date and the date of the completion of these financial 
statements are disclosed in notes 19 and 30 to the financial statements. 
 

   2010 
$ 

2009 
$ 

8. Remuneration of auditors     
     

Auditors of the Company – Ernst & Young:     
Audit and review of the financial report   57,722 70,575 
     
Other services provided by non Ernst & Young firms:     
 Taxation services   42,875 28,377 
 Other non-audit services   15,755 39,885 

   58,630 68,262 
 

9.  Pledged bank deposits 
 
Pledged bank deposits at 30 June 2010 represented a fixed deposit for a term of 2 months maturing on 22 August 2010 
bearing interest at 1.5% per annum and is pledged against a guarantee in the amount of $82,000 issued by a bank on 
behalf of the Company.  Pledged bank deposits at 30 June 2009 represented fixed deposits for terms of 6 months and 
bear interest at a weighted average rate of 2.7% per annum.  The deposits were pledged against bank facilities granted 
to the Company (note 16). 
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   2010 

$ 
2009 

$ 
10. Trade and other receivables     
     

Trade receivables    27,868 23,252 
Other receivables   332,284 320,000 
Trade deposits   211,118 41,178 
Prepayments   216,460 94,674 
   787,730 479,104 

     

Trade receivables are non- interest bearing and are generally on 0-30 day terms. An allowance for impairment loss is 
recognised when there is objective evidence that an individual trade receivable is impaired.  No impairment loss has 
been recognised by the Group in the years ended 30 June 2010 and 2009. 
 
The ageing analysis of trade receivables that are neither individually nor collectively considered to be impaired are 
as follows: 
 
Neither past due nor impaired   1,523 3,326 
Less than 1 month past due   778 12,233 
1 to 3 months past due   3,467 7,433 
Over 3 months past due   22,100 260 
   27,868 23,252 
 
Trade receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate to a range of customers for whom there was no 
recent history of default. 
 
Trade receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to a number of independent customers that have a good 
track record with the Group.  Based on past experience, management believes that no impairment allowance is 
necessary in respect of these balances as there have not been a significant change in credit quality and the balances 
are still considered fully recoverable.  The Group does not hold any collateral over these balances. 
 
Other receivables mainly represent research and development tax concession receivable and are considered fully 
recoverable. 
 
Deposits represents payments to suppliers with no history of unsatisfactory product quality or delivery default and 
are considered fully recoverable. 
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   2010 

$ 
2009 

$ 
     
11. Inventories     
     

Work in progress – at net realisable value    79,237 84,498 
Finished goods – at net realisable value   2,100,655 1,578,364 

 Total inventories at lower of cost and 
  net realisable value 

   
2,179,892 

 
1,662,862 

     
Work in progress and finished goods are net of a provision for losses of $623,096 (2009 :$695,929) to write down 
inventory to net realisable value. 
 
The cost of inventories recognised as an expense during the year was $456,141 (2009: $421,642). This expense has 
been included in the cost of sales. 
 
The cost of inventories recognised as an expense in 2010 includes $152,600 (2009: $653,442) in respect of provision 
for losses on work in progress and finished goods.  This expense has been included in the other expenses. 
 

12. Receivables (non-current)     
     

Loan to non-related entity    49,762 32,543 
     

The loan is unsecured, interest free and has no fixed repayment terms, but it is not expected to be repaid within the 
next twelve months.  The loan is considered fully recoverable. 
 

13. Property, plant and equipment     
     

The Group engaged Quantia Pty Limited, an accredited independent valuer that uses the International Valuation 
Standards Committee’s International Valuation Standards as a reference, to determine the fair value of its land and 
buildings.  Fair value is the amount for which the assets could be exchanged between a knowledgeable willing buyer 
and a knowledgeable willing seller in an arm’s length transaction as at the valuation date.  Fair value is determined 
by direct reference to recent market transactions on arm’s length terms for land and buildings comparable in size and 
location to those held by the Group, and to market based yields for comparable properties.  The effective date of the 
revaluation was 30 June 2010. 
 
If the Group’s land and buildings were measured at cost the carrying amount at 30 June 2010 would be $415,529 
(2009: $427,982), being cost of $498,090 (2009: $498,090) less accumulated depreciation of $82,560 (2009: 
$70,108), based on a depreciation rate of 2.5% on a straight line basis. 
 
Please refer to note 16 to the financial statements for details of encumbrances. 
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Leasehold 
Improvements 

Land & 
Buildings 

Building 
Improvements 

Manufacturing 
plant & 

Equipment 

Engineering 
Equipment & 

Software Motor Vehicles 
Office Furniture 

& Equipment Total 
At 1 July 2008 $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 
Cost or fair value 211,579 1,330,178 217,211 1,463,369 253,327 310,873 217,232 4,003,769 
Accumulated Depreciation (95,503) - (41,648) (591,249) (61,056) (66,222) (122,600) (978,278) 
Net book amount 116,076 1,330,178 175,563 872,120 192,271 244,651 94,632 3,025,491 

 

Year ended 30 June 2009                
Opening net book amount 116,076 1,330,178 175,563 872,120 192,271 244,651 94,632 3,025,491 
Additions 39,129 - 51,255 242,855 46,200 8,961 47,624 436,024 
Disposals - - - (4,317) (12,723) (8,961) (8,609) (34,610) 
Depreciation Charge (43,129) - (13,924) (157,337) (49,422) (45,872) (36,500) (346,184) 
Closing Net book amount 112,076 1,330,178 212,894 953,321 176,326 198,779 97,147 3,080,721 

 

At 30 June 2009                
Cost or fair value 250,708 1,330,178 268,466  1,701,907 286,804  310,873  256,247  4,405,183  
Accumulated Depreciation (138,632) - (55,572)  (748,586)  (110,478)  (112,094)  (159,100)  (1,324,462) 
Net book amount 112,076 1,330,178 212,894 953,321 176,326 198,779 97,147 3,080,721 

 

Year ended 30 June 2010                
Opening net book amount 112,076 1,330,178 212,894 953,321 176,326 198,779 97,147 3,080,721 
Revaluation Decrement - (79,934) - - - - - (79,934) 
Additions - - - 33,395 - 20,114 35,204 88,713 
Disposals - - - - - (40,169) (3,018) (43,187) 
Depreciation Charge (33,622) - (13,139) (144,748) (61,459) (35,218) (35,188) (323,374) 
Closing Net book amount 78,454 1,250,244 199,755 841,968 114,867 143,506 94,145 2,722,939 

 

At 30 June 2010 $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 
Cost or fair value 250,708 1,250,244 268,466 1,735,302 286,804 256,313 270,822 4,318,659 
Accumulated Depreciation (172,254) - (68,711) (893,334) (171,937) (112,807) (176,677) (1,595,720) 
Net book amount 78,454 1,250,244 199,755 841,968 114,867 143,506 94,145 2,722,939 
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   2010 

$ 
2009 

$ 
     

14. Goodwill & intellectual property     
     

Intellectual Property – Sprintex® Technology   12,071 30,281 
Goodwill   479,136 479,136 

   491,207 509,417 
 
Intellectual property – Sprintex® Technology represented patents acquired through business combinations and are 
carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses.  The patents have been granted terms up to 
January 2013 or January 2014 by the relevant government agency with the option of renewal without significant cost 
at the end of this period.   
 
Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated, at acquisition, to the cash generating units (CGUs) that are 
expected to benefit from that business combination. The carrying amount of goodwill of the Group has been allocated 
to the Sprintex® CGU.  The recoverable amount of this CGU has been determined based on the value in use 
calculations using cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved by management covering a five-year 
period.  The pre-tax discount rate applied to cash flow projections is 14.75%.  Cash flows beyond the five year period 
are extrapolated using a pricing growth rate of 3% .  
 

The calculation of value in use is most sensitive to the following key assumptions: 
 
Royalty income rates 
The royalty rate used of 3% is consistent with the rate observed in the industry for licensing out the use of technological 
patents similar to compressors. 
 
Revenue 
Management determined the budgeted units to be sold based on its expectation for market development and best 
estimate of the demand for the Company’s products from market data available for similar products and future 
production capacity. 
 
Discount rates 
Discount rates reflect management’s estimate of the time value of money and the risks specific to the CGU.  In 
determining an appropriate discount rate to apply to the forecast cash flows, regard has been given to the risk free 
investment rate, observed market cost of debt and equity and discount rates of comparable companies in the industry. 
 
Pricing growth rate 
This is the long term rate used to extrapolate the budget beyond the five year projection and is based on industry 
averages. 
 
Production costs and gross margins 
Production costs estimates are obtained from available quotations or best estimates of the component prices, and gross 
margins are determined based on its expectation for market development and industry data. 
 
The directors believe that any reasonable possible change in the key assumptions on which recoverable amount is based 
would not cause the aggregate carrying amount to exceed the aggregate recoverable amount of the CGU. 
 
As the recoverable amount of CGU as determined by the value in use calculations is higher than the carrying values of 
the goodwill, no impairment loss for the goodwill is considered necessary. 
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   2010 

$ 
2009 

$ 
15. Trade and other payables     
     

Trade payables    192,905 502,538 
Other payables and accruals   334,157 613,133 

   527,062 1,115,671 
     

Trade payables are non-interest bearing and are predominately settled on 30 day terms. 
 

16. Interest bearing borrowings      
     

Current     
Bank overdraft (secured) (note a)   - 1,007,518 
Insurance premium funding (unsecured) (note b)   64,467 65,766 
Finance lease liabilities (note c)   152,869 327,814 
Convertible notes (note e)   1,650,814 142,010 
Loans from related parties (note f)   772,977 616,971 

   2,641,127 2,160,079 
Non-current     
Finance lease liabilities (note c)   76,448 232,199 

     
(a) Bank overdrafts at 30 June 2009 were repayable on demand.  The average effective interest rate on bank overdrafts 

approximated 10.17% per annum in 2009 and was determined based on 1% plus commercial base rate of the banker.  
Details of securities are disclosed in note (d) below.  The bank overdraft was fully repaid during the year. 

 
(b) Insurance premium funding is unsecured and due for repayment over 10 equal instalments.  The effective interest rate 

of the loan was 5.1% (2009: 4.55%) per annum for the year. 
 
(c) The average effective interest rate on finance lease liabilities approximated 9.87% (2008: 9.48%) per annum in the 

year.  The carrying value of leased plant and equipment as at 30 June 2010 was $505,554 (2009: $781,142).  Other 
details of finance lease liabilities are disclosed in note 26. 

 
(d) As at 30 June 2009, the bank overdraft and finance lease liabilities of $1,007,518 and $152,503 respectively and a 

guarantee of $82,000 granted by the banker were secured by the following: 
 

• fixed and floating charge over the assets and undertakings of the Company; 
• mortgage over land and buildings with a carrying value of $1,330,178 (note 13); 
• plant and equipment with total carrying value of $153,592 held under finance leases and hire purchase 

arrangements; 
• a legal right of set off enabling the bank to set off cash security deposits of $200,000 against the interest 

obligations of at least one year (note 9); and 
• guarantee and indemnity given by the two executive directors to the extent of $1,290,000. 

 
The above banking facilities were fully repaid during the year and securities were released, except for a guarantee of 
$82,000 which was outstanding at 30 June 2010.  The guarantee is secured by a bank deposit of $82,000. (note 9) 
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16. Interest bearing borrowings (cont’d)     
     

(e) Convertible notes 
 

On 21 January 2009, the Company entered into an agreement with a non-related party and a convertible note in the 
principal amount of $150,000 was issued by the Company maturing on 30 June 2010.  The convertible note carries a 
coupon interest rate of 8.25% per annum.  The convertible note entitled the noteholder to convert to ordinary shares 
of the Company at a price of $0.20 per share for the period to 30 June 2010.   
 
The carrying amount of the convertible note was split into the equity and liability components at the date of grant at 
$10,886 and $139,114 respectively. The fair value of the liability component was calculated using a market interest 
rate of 13.3% per annum at the date of grant. The residual amount of $10,886 representing the value of the equity 
conversion component, was included in equity as Convertible Note Equity. 
 
On 30 June 2010, the Company has agreed with the noteholder to repay the principal of $150,000.  At the same time, 
the noteholder also agreed to subscribe for 3,750,000 ordinary shares of the Company at the price of $0.04 per share.  
The ordinary shares were subsequently allotted to the noteholder on 21 July 2010. (note 19(a)) 
 
On 6 May 2010, the Company entered into a convertible note deed with Wilson’s Pipes Fabrication Pty Limited 
(“WPF”), an entity controlled by Mr Michael John Wilson for the issuance of a convertible note in the principal 
amount of $1,700,000.  The convertible note is secured by a mortgage over the Company’s land and building and 
building improvement with a total carrying amount of $1,450,000 as at 30 June 2010.  The issue of the convertible 
note and the mortgage was approved by shareholders at the shareholders’ meeting on 10 June 2010.  The convertible 
note carries a coupon interest rate of 10% per annum and entitles WPF to convert to ordinary shares of the Company 
at a price of $0.10 per share for the period to 30 June 2011. 
 
The carrying amount of the convertible note in issue, net of issuing cost was split into the equity and liability 
components at the date of grant at $30,368 and $1,640,314 respectively. The fair value of the liability component 
was calculated using a market interest rate of 11% per annum at the date of grant. The residual amount of $30,368 
representing the value of the equity conversion component, was included in equity as Convertible Note Equity. 
 
The movement of the convertible notes for the years is set out below: 

 
  Equity 

component 
Liability 

component 
 

Total 
  $ $ $ 
  (Note 20)   
     

Issuance of convertible note  10,886 139,114 150,000 
Imputed interest  - 7,979 7,979 
Coupon interest paid  - (5,083) (5,083)
At 30 June 2009  10,886 142,010 152,896 
Issuance of convertible note  30,368 1,640,314 1,670,682 
Imputed interest  - 31,204 31,204 
Coupon interest paid  - (12,714) (12,714)
Repayment of convertible note  - (150,000) (150,000)
At 30 June 2010  41,254 1,650,814 1,692,068 

 
(f) Loans from related parties 
 

Loans from related parties represented unsecured loans from three shareholders, bearing interest at 9% (2009: 8.25%) 
per annum and repayable on demand. 
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$ 

2009 
$ 

17. Provisions     
     

Provision for warranty   32,043 22,484 
Provision for employee entitlements   107,023 80,973 

   139,066 103,457 
     
Movements in the provision for warranty for the Group during the financial year are set out below: 

     
   $  

At 1 July 2009   22,484  
Provision made during the year   40,005  
Utilisation of provisions   (30,446)  
At 30 June 2010   32,043  

     
Warranty provision 
Under the terms of the Group’s sales arrangements, the Group will rectify any product defects arising within one 
year of the date of sale.  Provision is therefore made for the present value of the management’s best estimate of the 
expected settlement under these agreements in respect of sales made within the year prior to the reporting date.  
The estimate has been made on the basis of the Group’s historical warranty trends and industry averages for 
defective products and is only made where a warranty claim is probable. 

     
18. Other liabilities      
     

Amounts due to directors    116,969 107,175 
 
Amounts due to directors represented accrued management remuneration and expenses paid by the directors on the 
Company’s behalf.  The amounts were unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand. 
 

19. Contributed equity     
     

Paid up capital – ordinary shares   27,240,821 21,846,120 
Capital raising costs capitalised  (822,274) (625,114)

   26,418,547 21,221,006 
Subscription proceeds – shares to be issued (note 16 (e))   150,000 401,910 

   26,568,547 21,622,916 
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19. Contributed equity (cont’d)     
     
(a) Ordinary shares     
 Movements in ordinary share capital   

Date 
Number of 

shares 
 

$ 
 Balance at 1 July 2009   108,119,750 21,221,006 
     
 Issue of Placement Shares at $0.12 each (note i)  Dec 09 3,349,250 401,910 
     
 Issue of Placement Shares at $0.05 each (note ii)  28 Aug 09 8,500,000 425,000 
 Entitlement Issue Shares at $0.05 each (note ii)  Oct to Nov 09  83,324,973 4,166,249 
 Issue of Shares at $0.05 each (note iii)  10 Dec09 1,210,000 60,500 
 Issue of Shares at $0.05 each (note iii)  31 Mar 10 921,800 46,090 
 Issue of Shares upon exercise of listed options at $0.10 each 

(note iv) 
  

13 Apr 10 
 

1,895 
 

190 
 Issue of Placement Shares at $0.05 each (note v)  15 Apr 10 1,000,000 50,000 
 Issue of Placement Shares at $0.04 each (note v)  May to Jun 10 4,750,000 190,000 
 Issue of Placement Shares at $0.045 each (note v)  May to Jun 10 605,844 27,262 
 Issue of Placement Shares at $0.04 each (note iii)  30 June 10 687,500 27,500 
 Less capital raising costs capitalised    (197,160)
 Contributions to equity, net of transaction costs during the year    4,795,631 
 Balance as at 30 June 2010   212,471,012 26,418,547 
     
 Holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends from time to time and are entitled to one vote per share at 

shareholders meetings. 
 
 In the event of a winding up of the Company, ordinary shareholders rank after all other shareholders and creditors, 

and are fully entitled to any surplus proceeds of liquidation. 
 
(i) Placement of 8,500,000 ordinary shares at an offer price of $0.12 per share 

On 11 February 2009, the Company announced its intention to issue up to 8,500,000 shares at an offer price of $0.12 
per share to related parties and other sophisticated investors for working capital.  The structure of the placement was 
a subscription of one ordinary shares of the Company for $0.12 per share (“Placement Shares”) and purchase of one 
ordinary share from CMIH Enterprises Pty Limited, a controlled entity of Mr Anthony Hamilton for $0.05 per share.  
As of 30 June 2009, 5,150,750 Placement Shares has been allotted.  On 30 November 2009, the approval from 
shareholders were obtained and 3,349,250 shares were allotted to three shareholders, including entities controlled by 
Mr Rick Siemens and Mr Steve Apedaile, both directors of the Company. 
 

(ii) Entitlement Issue Shares at $0.05 per share 
On 2 September 2009, the Company announced a one for one non-renounceable rights issue of fully paid shares in 
the Company at an issue price of $0.05 per share (“Entitlement Issue”). 
 
As further disclosed in more detail in the Company’s announcements dated 26 August and 2 September 2009, the 
Company entered into a Placement and Underwriting Agreement (the “Agreement”) with an existing shareholder to 
raise up to $6,255,988.  In accordance with the Agreement, the shareholder has subscribed 8,500,000 placement 
shares at $0.05 per share on 28 August 2009 and has underwritten 20 million fully paid ordinary shares at $0.05 per 
share of the shortfall of the Entitlement Issue.  83,324,973 shares in total including the underwritten shares were 
issued in relation to the Entitlement Issue, out of which 12,339,420 shares were settled from the loans from three 
shareholders as at 30 June 2009 . 
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19. Contributed equity (cont’d) 
 
(a) Ordinary Shares (cont’d) 
 
(iii) Issue of Ordinary Shares to consultants 

On 10 December 2009 and 31 March 2010, 1,210,000 and 921,800 ordinary shares at $0.05 per share were issued to 
two non-related consulting companies for the provision of corporate advisory management services and public 
relation services to the Company respectively (note 25). 
 
On 30 June 2010, 687,500 ordinary shares at $0.04 per share were issued to a non-related consulting company for 
the provision of corporate advisory service to be performed in the financial year ending 30 June 2011 (note 25). 

 
(iv) Issue of Ordinary Shares upon exercise of listed options at $0.10 per share 

On 13 April 2010, 1,895 ordinary shares at $0.10 per share were issued to two shareholders upon the exercise of 
Bonus Options (note b). 
 

(v) Issue of Ordinary Shares 
During the period from April to June 2010, a total of 6,355,844 ordinary shares were issued to non-related parties at 
share prices from $0.04 per share to $0.05 per share. 
 

(b) Share options 
On 22 January 2010, the Company announced a bonus issue prospectus for a free bonus issue of 1 listed option 
exercisable at $0.10 per share on or before 30 June 2011 for every 5 ordinary shares held by shareholders as at 4 
February 2010 (“Bonus Options”).  A total of 40,359,486 options were issued on 16 February 2010. 
 
On 1 December 2009 and 15 January 2010, a total of 9,000,000 options were granted to the same consulting company 
which were issued with 1,210,000 ordinary shares (note (a)(iii) above).  The terms of the options are the same as the 
Bonus Options.   
 
As at 30 June 2010, a total of 49,357,591 options of the Company exercisable at $0.10 per share for the period to 30 
June 2011 were in issue. 

 
(c) Converting performance shares 

Pursuant to a special resolution passed at the shareholders’ meeting held on 30 January 2008, the Company created 
two additional classes of shares, being share classes “A” and “B”. On 28 March 2008, the Company issued 
17,099,500 new Class “A” Converting Performance Shares and 17,099,500 new Class “B” Converting Performance 
Shares as a bonus issue to shareholders of the Company as at 30 January 2008 (except for the subscribers to the Seed 
Capital) on the basis of 1 Class “A” Converting Performance Share and 1 Class “B” Converting Performance Share 
for every 4 Ordinary shares held. 

 
Each Class “A” Converting Performance Share shall convert into 1 ordinary share of the Company if the Company 
achieves either a net profit after tax of $6 million for the financial year ended 30 June 2009 or a net profit after tax of 
$16 million for the combined financial years ended 30 June 2009 and 2010, whichever occurs earlier.  Each Class 
“B” Converting Performance Share shall convert into 1 ordinary share of the Company if the Company achieves 
either a net profit after tax of $10 million for the financial year ending 30 June 2010 or a net profit after tax of $16 
million for the combined financial years ended 30 June 2009 and 2010, whichever occurs earlier. 
 
Both Class “A” and Class “B” Converting Performance Share do not entitle the holder to vote on any resolutions 
proposed at a general meeting of shareholders, do not entitle the holder to any dividends, not transferable and can 
only participate in the surplus profits or assets of the Company upon winding up of the Company only to the extent of 
$0.0001 per Class “A” or Class “B” Converting Performance Share. 
 
As of 30 June 2010, both Class “A” and Class “B” Converting Performance Shares did not fulfil the conditions for 
conversion.  Accordingly, these Converting Performance Shares were redeemed at $0.0001 per share. 
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20. Reserves 

 
(a) Convertible note equity 

The equity component of convertible note represents the value of the unexercised equity component of convertible 
note issued by the Company recognised in accordance with the accounting policy adopted for convertible notes in 
note 16. 
 

(b) Asset revaluation reserve 
The asset revaluation reserve is used to record increments and decrements in the fair value of land and buildings to 
the extent that they offset one another. The reserve can only be used to pay dividends in limited circumstances. 

 
(c) Share option reserve 

Share option reserve represents the fair value of the actual or estimated number of unexercised share options granted 
to management and consultants of the Company recognised in accordance with the accounting policy adopted for 
share-based payments in note 25. 

 
   2010 

$ 
2009 

$ 
21. Cash flow statement reconciliation     
     
(a) Reconciliation of cash flows from operating activities to 

operating loss after income tax 
    

     
Operating loss after income tax  (4,322,826) (5,473,738)
Add non-cash items:     
 Share based payments   129,024 57,500 
 Convertible note imputed interest in excess of coupon interest   18,490 2,896 
 Depreciation and amortisation   341,584 365,629 
 Net (gain)/loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment   (9,308) 4,219 
 Exchange difference   (16,267) 3,022 
Changes in assets and liabilities    
 Increase in trade and other receivables  (273,119) (153,996)
 (Increase)/(decrease) in inventories   (524,984) 278,688 
  (Decrease)/increase in trade and other payables   (578,519) 241,715 
 Increase/(decrease) in provision for warranty  9,559 (6,162)
 Increase in provision for employee entitlements   26,050 4,465 
Net cash flows used in operating activities  (5,200,316) (4,675,762)

 
(b) Non-cash financing and investing activities 

 
During the year ended 30 June 2010,  
 
(i) the Group issued 2,819,300 ordinary shares in total value of $134,090, inclusive of GST to consultancy 

companies for the provision of corporate advisory management services and public relation services (note 
19(a)(iii)). 

 
(ii) 12,339,420 Entitlement Issue Shares in total value of $616,971 issued to three shareholders were settled from 

the loans from them as at 30 June 2009 (note 19(a)(ii)). 
 
During the year ended 30 June 2009, the Group acquired $92,500 of equipment under finance leases.  This 
acquisition will be reflected in the cash flow statement over the terms of the finance leases via lease repayments. 
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   2010 

$ 
2009 

$ 
21. Cash flow statement reconciliation (cont’d)     
     
(c) Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents to cash flow 

statement 
    

For the purpose of the cash flow statement, cash and cash 
equivalents comprise the following at 30 June: 

    

     
Cash and cash equivalents  75,521 (6,676)
Bank overdrafts (note 16)   - (1,007,518)

 75,521 (1,014,194)
 
22. Parent entity information 
 
(a) Information relating to Automotive Technology Group Limited 
 

Current assets    3,124,443 2,334,571 
Total assets   6,389,052 5,957,971 
Current liabilities   3,194,907 3,486,382 
Total liabilities   3,500,672 3,718,581 
     
Contributed equity   26,568,547 21,622,916 
Convertible note equity   41,255 10,886 
Asset revaluation reserve   752,154 832,088 
Share option reserve   534,300 458,550 
Accumulated losses   (25,007,876) (20,685,050)
Total shareholders’ equity   2,888,380 2,239,390 
     
Loss for the parent entity   (4,322,826) (5,555,175)
Total comprehensive income of the parent entity   (4,402,160) (5,555,175)

 
(b) Guarantees 
 

No guarantees have been entered into by the Company in relation to the debts of its subsidiaries. 
 
(c) Commitments 
 
 Commitments of the Company as at reporting date are disclosed in note 26 to the financial statements. 
 
(d) Tax consolidation 
 

The Company and its 100% owned Australian resident subsidiaries formed a tax consolidated group with effect from 
1 July 2004.  The Company is the head entity of the tax consolidated group.  The head entity and the controlled 
entities in the tax consolidated group continue to account for their own current and deferred tax amounts.  The Group 
has applied the group allocation approach in determining the appropriate amount of current taxes and deferred taxes to 
allocate to members of the tax consolidated group.  The current and deferred tax amounts are measured in a 
systematic manner that is consistent with the broad principles in AASB 112 Incomes Taxes. There is no tax funding 
agreement in place. 
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23. Related party disclosures 
 
(a) Subsidiaries 
 

The following were controlled entities at 30 June 2010 and are included in the consolidated financial statements. All 
of the controlled entities have the same financial year as the parent 
 

 % Equity Interest Investment 
Name of Entity 

Country of 
Incorporation 2010 2009 2010 2009 

    $ $ 
Sprintex Australasia Pty Limited Australia 100 100 479,136 479,136 
Vee Two Pty Limited Australia 100 100 34,640 56,844 
AAC Property Investments Pty Limited Australia 100 100 - - 
Automotive Technology Group Limited British Virgin 

Islands 
100 100 699 

 
719 

 
    514.475 536,699 

 
(b) Transactions with related parties 
 

There are no transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries.  Save as disclosed in notes 16, 18, 19(a), 25 and 
26 to the financial statements, the Group does not have transactions with other related parties. 
 
The compensation of key management personnel and other details are set out in note 24 to the financial statements. 

 
24. Key management personnel disclosures 
 
(a) Key management personnel compensation 
 

The key management personnel compensation is as follows: 
 

   2010 
$ 

2009 
$ 

     
Short-term employee benefits   956,823 1,238,422 
Post employment benefits   31,820 30,078 
Total   988,643 1,268,500 

 
(b) Option holdings of key management personnel 

 
 
 
 
Directors 

 
 

Exercise 
price 

 
 
 

Expiry Date 

 
 

Balance at 
 1 July 2009  

 
 

Other changes 

 
 

Balance at  
30 June 2010 

Vested as of 
30 June 2010 

and 
exercisable 

   (Note ii) (Note i)   
Mr R Siemens A$0.30 31 Dec 2010 1,500,000 - 1,500,000 1,500,000 
 A$0.10 30 Jun 2011 - 7,143,051 7,143,051 7,143,051 
Mr S Apedaile A$0.30 31 Dec 2010 1,500,000  1,500,000 1,500,000 
 A$0.10 30 Jun 2011 - 4,598,369 4,598,369 4,598,369 
Mr J Williams A$0.10 30 Jun 2011 - 85,960 85,960 85,960 
Mr J Upton A$0.10 30 Jun 2011 - 120,000 120,000 120,000 
   3,000,000 11,947,380 14,947,380 14,947,380 
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24. Key management personnel disclosures (cont’d) 
 
(b) Option holdings of key management personnel (cont’d) 
 
 
 
 
Directors 

 
 

Exercise 
price 

 
 
 

Expiry Date 

 Balance at end 
of period 30 

June 2008 and 
2009 

Vested as of 
30 June 2009 

and 
exercisable 

      
Mr R Siemens A$0.30 31 Dec 2010  1,500,000 1,500,000 
Mr S Apedaile A$0.30 31 Dec 2010  1,500,000 1,500,000 
Mr A Hamilton (iii) A$0.30 31 Dec 2010  1,500,000 1,500,000 
    4,500,000 4,500,000 
 

Notes: 
 
(i) No remuneration options have been granted to key management personnel in the years ended 30 June 2010 and 

2009.  Options granted during the year ended 30 June 2010 were Bonus Options as detailed in note 19(b) to the 
financial statements. 

 
(ii) There were no alterations of the terms and conditions of options granted as remuneration since the grant date. 
 
(iii) Resigned on 14 September 2009. 

 
(c) Shareholdings of key management personnel 
 

Ordinary shares 
The following table shows the movement during the year in the number of ordinary shares in Automotive Technology 
Group Limited held directly, indirectly or beneficially, by each key management personnel, including their related 
parties: 
 
 
Year ended 30 June 2010 

Held at  
1 July 2009 

Received as 
remuneration 

Other 
changes 

Held at  
 30 June 2010 

     
Directors     
Mr R Siemens 19,830,170 - 15,885,085 35,715,255 
Mr S Apedaile 14,996,930 - 9,110,556 24,107,486 
Mr M Wilson - - 41,309,500 41,309,500 
Mr R O’Brien - - 822,609 822,609 
Other key management personnel     
Mr J Upton 400,000 - 200,000 600,000 
Mr J Williams 212,400 - 217,400 429,800 
 35,439,500 - 67,545,150 102,984,650 
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24. Key management personnel disclosures (cont’d) 

 
(c) Shareholdings of key management personnel (cont’d) 

 
 
Year ended 30 June 2009 

Held at  
1 July 2008 

Received as 
remuneration 

Other 
changes 

Held at  
 30 June 2009 

     
Directors     
Mr R Siemens 13,860,170 - 5,970,000 19,830,170 
Mr S Apedaile 14,140,170 - 856,760 14,996,930 
Mr A Hamilton2 13,860,170 - (5,500,000) 8,360,170 
Other key management personnel     
Mr J Upton 400,000 - - 400,000 
Mr R Griffin3 30,000 - 37,050 67,050 
Mr S Wilkinson1 50,000 - - 50,000 
Mr J Williams 25,000 - 187,400 212,400 
 42,365,510 - 1,551,210 43,916,720 
1. Resigned 28 August 2009 
2. Resigned 15 September 2009 
3. Resigned 7 April 2010 
 
Converting performance shares 
The following table shows the movement during the year ended 30 June 2010 in the number of converting 
performance shares in Automotive Technology Group Limited held directly, indirectly or beneficially, by each key 
management personnel, including their related parties: 
 
Class A Converting performance shares 
 
Directors 

 Balance held at 
 30 June 2009  

Redemption Balance held at 
 30 June 2010 

Mr R Siemens  3,335,458 (3,335,458) - 
Mr S Apedaile  3,210,458 (3,210,458) - 
  6,545,916 (6,545,916) - 
 
Class B Converting performance shares 
 
Directors 

 Balance held at 
 30 June 2009 

 Balance held at 
 30 June 2010 

Mr R Siemens  3,335,458 (3,335,458) - 
Mr S Apedaile  3,210,458 (3,210,458) - 
  6,545,916 (6,545,916) - 
 
All equity transactions with key management personnel other than arising from the granting of employee shares have 
been entered into under terms and conditions no more favourable than those the Group would have adopted if dealing 
at arm’s length. 
 

25. Share based payment transactions 
 

The Company has established an employee share option plan (“ESOP”) for all employees or consultants of the 
Group.  The ESOP is designed to provide eligible participants with an ownership interest in the Company and to 
provide additional incentives for eligible participants to increase profitability and returns to shareholders.  Options 
are issued for no consideration and the exercise price shall be as the directors in their absolute discretion determine, 
provided the exercise price shall not be less than the weighted average of the last sale price of the Company’s Shares 
on ASX at the close of business on each of the 5 Business Days immediately preceding the date on which the 
directors resolve to grant the options.   
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25. Share based payment transactions (cont’d) 
 

The Options may not be exercised until the shares of the Company have been quoted on ASX throughout the 12 
month period immediately preceding the exercise of the Options, without suspension during that period exceeding in 
total 2 trading days.  If the options remain unexercised after a period of 5 years from the date of grant, the options 
expire.  Options are forfeited immediately if the employee leaves the Group before the above condition is met or 60 
days after the leave of the employee if the above condition is met. 
 
As at 30 June 2009 and 2010, no options were granted in respect of the ESOP. 
 
On 29 February 2008, 6,500,000 options were granted to directors and a non-related consultant, Taylor Collison 
Limited, with an exercise price of $0.30, exercisable at any time on or prior to 3:00 pm (WST) on 31 December 
2010.  Each option entitles the holder to one ordinary share of the Company.  The shares issued upon exercise of the 
options will rank pari passu in all respects with the issued ordinary shares of the Company. 
 
On 11 September 2008, 1,000,000 options were granted to three non-related consultants, with an exercise price of 
$0.30, exercisable at any time on or prior to 3:00 pm (WST) on 31 December 2010 for the provision of corporate 
advisory services to the Group during the period 15 July 2008 to 30 June 2010.  Each option entitles the holder to one 
ordinary share of the Company.  The shares issued upon exercise of the options will rank pari passu in all respects 
with the issued ordinary shares of the Company. 
 
On 1 December 2009 and 15 January 2010, a total of 9,000,000 options were granted to a non-related consulting 
company, with an exercise price of $0.10, exercisable at any time on or prior to 3:00 pm (WST) on 30 June 2011 for 
the provision of corporate advisory management and placement services to the Group.  Each option entitles the 
holder to one ordinary share of the Company.  The shares issued upon exercise of the options will rank pari passu in 
all respects with the issued ordinary shares of the Company. 
 
The number and weighted average exercise prices of the share options granted to directors and consultants during the 
year are as follows: 
 
 Options 

granted to 
directors 

Options 
granted to 
consultants 

Options held 
by others 

 
Number of 

share options 

Weighted 
average 

exercise price 
      
Outstanding at 1 July 2008 4,500,000 2,000,000 - 6,500,000 $0.30
Granted during the year - 1,000,000 - 1,000,000 $0.30
Outstanding at 30 June 2009 4,500,000 3,000,000 - 7,500,000 $0.30 
Granted during the year - 9,000,000 - 9,000,000 $0.10 
Options held by a director who 
resigned during the year (1,500,000) - 

 
1,500,000 - $0.30 

Outstanding at 30 June 2010 3,000,000 12,000,000 1,500,000 16,500,000 $0.19 
      
Exercisable at end of period    16,500,000  

 
The options granted during the year have a remaining contractual life of 12 months and an estimated fair value of 
$0.00175 per share, determined based on the service fee to be charged by the consultant. 

 
The options granted during the year ended 30 June 2009 have a remaining contractual life of 6 months and an 
estimated fair value of $0.005 per option per month until 30 June 2010, determined based on the fair value of the 
service fee charged by the consultants. 
 
The Group recognised total expenses of $129,024 (2009: $57,500) related to equity-settled share based payment 
transactions during the year. 
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26. Commitments 
 
(a) Operating lease commitments 

 
The Company is the lessee in respect of certain property and items of plant and machinery and office equipment held 
under operating leases.  The lease for the property has a term of 10 years from 1 July 2006 and lease payments are 
increased every year with indexation to reflect market rentals. The lease does not include contingent rentals. 

 
At the balance date, the Group and the Company had outstanding minimum commitments under non-cancellable 
operating leases, which fall due as follows:-  

 
   2010 

$ 
2009 

$ 
     
Within one year   166,000 158,168 
After one year but not more than five years   664,000 632,674 
After more than five years   166,000 316,337 
Total minimum lease payments   996,000 1,107,179 

 
(b) Finance lease and hire purchase commitments 

 
The Company leases certain plant and equipment under finance leases expiring from 1 to 5 years. At the end of the 
lease terms the Company owns the equipment outright or has the option to purchase the equipment for the residual 
amount owing. The Group’s and the Company’s obligations under finance leases are secured by the lessors’ title to 
the leased assets. 
 
Within one year   168,502 384,787 
After one year but not more than five years   84,526 255,940 
Total minimum lease payments   253,028 640,727 
Less: amounts representing finance charges (23,711) (80,714)
Present value of minimum lease payments   229,317 560,013 
     
Included in the financial statements as:     
 Current interest-bearing liabilities (note 16)   152,869 327,814 
 Non-current interest-bearing liabilities (note 16)   76,448 232,199 
   229,317 560,013 

 
(c) Capital commitments 

 
As at 30 June 2010, the Group had outstanding capital commitments in respect of acquisition of property plant and 
equipment contracted for but not provided for in the financial statements in the amount of US$50,000 (2009: $Nil). 
 

(d) Other commitments 
 

Commitments outstanding at 30 June 2010 in respect of consultancy agreements with directors contracted for but not 
provided for in the financial statements were $Nil (2009: $320,000). 
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27. Capital risk management 
 

When managing capital, management's objective is to ensure the entity continues as a going concern as well as to 
maintain optimal returns to shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders. Management also aims to maintain a 
capital structure that ensures the lowest cost of capital available to the entity. 
 
Management are constantly adjusting the capital structure to take advantage of favourable costs of capital or high 
returns on assets. As the market is constantly changing, management may change the amount of dividends to be paid 
to shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt. 
 
During 2010 and 2009, no dividends have been paid. The Company does not yet have a dividend policy and payment 
of future dividends will be dependent upon the future profitability and financial position of the Company. 
 
The capital structure of the Group consists of total debts, which includes the interest-bearing borrowings, convertible 
notes and finance lease liabilities as detailed in note 16, cash and cash equivalents and equity attributable to equity 
holders of the Company, comprising contributed equity, reserves and accumulated losses as disclosed in notes 19 and 
20 respectively.  
 
Management monitor capital through the gearing ratio (net debt/total capital) and (total debt/total equity). For this 
purpose the Group defines net debts as total debts as defined above, less cash and cash equivalents. The gearing ratios 
at 30 June 2010 and 2009 were as follows: 
 
   2010 

$ 
2009 

$ 
     
Total debts   2,717,575 2,392,278 
Less: cash and cash equivalents (75,521) (193,324)
Net debt   2,642,054 2,198,954 
Total equity   2,888,379 2,239,390 
Total capital   5,530,433 4,438,344 
     
Gearing ratio - Net debt / total capital   48% 50% 

 
28. Financial risk management  

 
The Group's and the Company’s principal financial instruments comprise receivables, payables, interest bearing 
borrowings and overdrafts, convertible notes, finance lease liabilities, cash and short-term deposits. 

 
Exposure to credit risk, liquidity risk, interest rate risk and currency risk arises in the normal course of the Group’s 
and the Company’s business. 
 
The Group manages its exposure to key financial risks, including interest rate and currency risk in accordance with 
the Group's financial risk management policy. The objective of the policy is to support the delivery of the Group's 
financial targets whilst protecting future financial security.  Debt borrowings are driven by balancing cash, short term 
borrowings and longer term capital financing of the business. 
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28. Financial risk management (cont’d) 
 

(a) Credit risk 
 

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to its trade and other receivables.  The Group’s exposure to credit 
risk arises from potential default of the counter party, with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying amount of each 
financial asset in the statement of financial position after deducting any impairment allowance. 
 
Management has a credit policy in place and the exposures to these credit risks are monitored on an ongoing basis.  
In respect of trade and other receivables, individual credit evaluations are performed on all customers requiring credit 
over a certain amount.  These evaluations focus on the customer’s past history of making payments when due and 
current ability to pay, and take into account information specific to the customers as well as pertaining to the 
economic environment in which the customers operate.  Trade receivables are due within 0 to 30 days from the date 
of billing.  Debtors with balances that are more than 3 months past due are requested to settle all outstanding balances 
before any further credit is granted.  Normally, the Group does not obtain collateral from customers. 
 
At 30 June 2010, the Group’s level of concentration of credit risk has deteriorated as 79% of total trade receivables 
was due from the Group’s largest customer, while in the year ended 30 June 2009, 38% of the total trade receivables 
was due from the Group’s largest customer.  
 
Further quantitative disclosures in respect of the Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from trade and other 
receivables are set out in note 10. 
 

(b) Liquidity risk 
 
The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of bank 
overdrafts, bank loans, convertible notes, finance leases and committed available credit lines.  The Group manages its 
liquidity risk by monitoring the total cash inflows and outflows expected on a monthly basis and monitoring 
compliance with lending covenants on an ongoing basis. 
 
The following table details the remaining contractual maturities at the reporting date of the Group’s financial 
liabilities, which are based on contractual undiscounted cash flows (including interest payments computed using 
contractual rates, or if floating, based on rates current at the reporting date) and the earliest date the Group can be 
required to pay. 

 

Year ended 30 June 2010 

 
 

Carrying 
amount 

Total 
contractual 

undiscounted 
cash flow 

 
Within 1 

year or on 
demand 

More than 
1 year but 
less than 
2 years 

More than 
2 years but 
Less than 
5 years 

 $ $ $ $ $ 
Trade and other payables 527,062 527,062 527,062 - - 
Insurance premium funding 64,467 67,755 67,755 - - 
Finance lease liabilities 229,317 253,028 168,502 52,313 32,213 
Convertible note 1,650,814 1,879,315 1,879,315 - - 
Loans from related entities 772,977 836,877 836,877 - - 
Other liabilities 116,969 116,969 116,969 - - 
 3,361,606 3,681,006 3,596,480 52,313 32,213 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT’D) 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010 
 

 
 

28. Financial risk management (cont’d) 
 

Year ended 30 June 2009 
Carrying 
amount 

Total contractual
undiscounted 

cash flow 

Within 1 
year or on 
demand 

More than 
1 year but 
less than 
2 years 

More than 
2 years but 
Less than 
5 years 

 $ $ $ $ $ 
Trade and other payables 1,115,671 1,115,671 1,115,671 - - 
Bank overdrafts 1,007,518 1,109,982 1,109,982 - - 
Insurance premium funding 65,766 68,761 68,761 - - 
Finance lease liabilities 560,013 640,727 384,787 171,414 84,526 
Convertible note 142,010 162,714 162,714 - - 
Loans from related entities 724,145 775,046 775,046 - - 
 3,615,123 3,872,901 3,616,961 171,414 84,526 

 
(c) Interest rate risk 
 

The Group’s interest rate risk arises primarily from interest bearing financial assets and financial liabilities.  Financial 
instruments issued at variable rates and at fixed rates expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk and fair value 
interest risk respectively.  The Group’s policy is to manage the borrowing structure to match the nature of funding 
needs and acknowledges that fair value exposure from the Group’s fixed rate financial liability is a by product of the 
Group’s attempt to manage its cash flow volatility arising from interest rate changes.  At reporting date, the interest 
rate profile of the carrying value of the Group’s interest bearing financial assets and liabilities are set out in the 
following tables: 
 
 
Year ended 30 June 2010 

 Floating 
interest rate 

Fixed interest 
rate 

 
Total 

  $ $ $ 
Financial assets     
Cash and cash equivalents  75,521 - 75,521 
Pledged bank deposits  - 82,000 82,000 
  75,521 82,000 157,521 
Financial liabilities     
Insurance premium funding  - 64,467 64,467 
Finance lease liabilities  - 229,317 229,317 
Convertible note  - 1,650,814 1,650,814 
Loans from related parties  - 772,977 772,977 
  - 2,717,575 2,717,575 
Net exposure  75,521 (2,635,575) (2,560,054)

 
Year ended 30 June 2009     
     
Financial assets     
Cash and cash equivalents  (6,722) - (6,722)
Pledged bank deposits  - 200,000 200,000 
  (6,722) 200,000 193,278 
Financial liabilities     
Bank overdrafts  1,007,518 - 1,007,518 
Insurance premium funding  - 65,766 65,766 
Finance lease liabilities  - 560,013 560,013 
Convertible note  - 142,010 142,010 
Loans from related parties  - 616,971 616,971 
  1,007,518 1,384,760 2,392,278 
Net exposure  (1,014,240) (1,184,760) (2,199,000)
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28. Financial risk management (cont’d) 
 

(c) Interest rate risk (cont’d) 
 

The interest rates and terms of repayment of the Group’s borrowings are disclosed in note 18 to the financial 
statements. 

 
Cash flow sensitivity analysis for floating rate instruments 
An increase of 100 basis points in interest rates at the reporting date would have increased net loss and accumulated 
losses by $755 (2009: $10,142).  A decrease of 100 basis points in interest rates will have the same amount but 
opposite financial effect on net loss and accumulated losses.  

 
The sensitivity analysis above has been determined assuming that the change in interest rates had occurred at the 
reporting date and had been applied to the exposure to interest rate risk for financial instruments in existence at that 
date.  The 100 basis point increase or decrease represents management’s assessment of a reasonably possible change 
in interest rates over the period until the next annual reporting date based on historical market trend.  The analysis is 
performed on the same basis for 2009. 

 
(d) Currency risk 
 

The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily through sales and purchases that are denominated in a currency other 
than the functional currency of the operations to which they relate.  The currencies giving rise to this risk are 
primarily Euros, United States dollars, Swedish Kroner, British Pounds and Hong Kong dollars.  Currently, the Group 
does not have a policy to manage the currency risk arising from sales and purchases. 
 
All the Group’s borrowings are denominated in the functional currency of the entity taking out the loan. Given this, 
management does not expect that there will be any currency risk associated with the Group’s borrowings. 

 
The following table details the Group’s exposure at the reporting date to currency risk arising from recognised assets 
or liabilities denominated in a currency other than the functional currency of the entity to which they relate. 
 
 2010 
 

Euros US dollars 
Swedish 
Kroner 

 
British 
Pounds 

Hong 
Kong 

dollars 
 EUR USD SEK GBP HKD 
  
Trade and other receivables 32,886 114,856 160,000 64 - 
Cash and cash equivalents - 320 - - 1,943 
Trade and other payables (6,028) (24,363) - (48,316) (10,749) 
Overall net exposure 26,858 90,813 160,000 (48,252) (8,806) 

 
 2009 
 

Euros US dollars 
Swedish 
Kroner 

 
British 
Pounds 

Hong 
Kong 

dollars 
 EUR USD SEK GBP HKD 
  
Trade and other receivables 295 - 222,700 721 - 
Cash and cash equivalents - 320 - - 1,759 
Trade and other payables (49,383) (21,900) (222,700) - (26,930) 
Overall net exposure (49,088) (21,580) - 721 (25,171) 

 



 

   66 

A U T O M O T I V E  T E C H N O L O G Y  G R O U P  L I M I T E D  
A N D  C O N T R O L L E D  E N T I T I E S  

 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT’D) 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010 
 

 
 

28. Financial risk management (cont’d) 
 

(d) Currency risk (cont’d) 
 
The following table indicates the approximate change in the Group’s loss after taxation and accumulated losses in 
response to reasonably possible changes in the foreign exchange rates to which the Group has significant exposure at 
the statement of financial position date.  The sensitivity analysis includes balances between group companies where 
the denomination of the balances is in a currency other than the functional currencies of the lender or the borrower.  A 
positive number below indicates a decrease in net loss for the year and accumulated losses where the AUD weakens 
against the relevant currency.  For a strengthening of the AUD against the relevant currency, there would be an equal 
and opposite impact on the net loss and accumulated losses, and the balances below would be negative. 
 
 2010 2009 

 

Increase in 
foreign 

exchange 
rates 

Effect on 
loss for the 
year and 

accumulated 
losses 

Increase in 
foreign 

exchange 
rates 

Effect on 
loss for the 
year and 

accumulated 
losses 

  $  $ 
Euros 17% 7,392 4% (3,564)
  
United States dollars 1% 6,668 5% (1,412)
   
Swedish Kroner 16% 3,534 9% - 
   
British Pounds 18% (18,633) 15% 261 
   
Hong Kong dollars 1% (69) 5% (210)
 
The sensitivity analysis has been determined assuming that the change in foreign exchange rates had occurred at the 
reporting date and had been applied to each of the group entities; exposure to currency risk for financial instruments 
in existence at that date, and that all other variables, in particular interest rates, remain constant. 
 
The stated changes represent management’s assessment of reasonably possible changes in foreign exchange rates 
over the period until the next annual reporting date. Results of the analysis as presented in the above table represent 
an aggregation of the effects on each of the group entities’ net loss for the year and accumulated losses measured in 
the respective functional currencies, translated into AUD at the exchange rate ruling at the statement of financial 
position date for presentation purposes.  The analysis is performed on the same basis for 2009. 

 
(e) Fair value estimation 

 
All financial instruments are carried at amounts not materially different from their fair values as at 30 June 2010 and 
2009. 

 
The carrying value of trade and other receivables and payables are assumed to approximate their fair values due to 
their short term nature. The fair value of financial liabilities is estimated by discounting the future contractual cash 
flows at the current market interest rate that is available to the Group for similar financial instruments, as detailed in 
notes 16.  The directors consider that the change in interest rates will not cause a significant impact on the fair values 
of the financial liabilities. 
 
No financial instruments are carried at fair value. 
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29. Summary of financial instruments by category 
 

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities as recognised at 30 June 2010 and 2009 
may be categorised as follows: 

 
   2010 

$ 
2009 

$ 
Financial assets     
Loans and receivables (including cash and cash equivalents)   778,552 577,754 
     
Financial liabilities     
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost   3,361,606 3,615,123 

 
30. Events subsequent to reporting period 

 
Subsequent to the reporting period, the Company raised share capital by way of a private placement whereby 
11,125,000 and 365,853 ordinary shares at $0.04 and $0.041 per share respectively were issued for a total gross 
proceeds of $460,000. 

 
The private placement also offered one free listed option for every five shares subscribed.  The options are 
exercisable at $0.10 per share expiring on 30 June 2011.  A total of 1,026,168 and 2,298,171 listed options were 
issued in relation to the private placements in May and June 2010 and subsequent to year end respectively. 
 
On 29 September 2010, the directors announced a one for one non-renounceable rights issue at 3 cents per share.  The 
directors have agreed to take up their pro rata entitlement and advance these funds to the company in advance of the 
rights issue closure date. 
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DIRECTORS’ DECLARATION 

 
 

 
In accordance with a resolution of the directors of Automotive Technology Group Limited, I state that: 
 
1. In the opinion of the directors: 
 
a. The financial statements and notes of the consolidated entity are in accordance with the Corporations Act 

2001, including: 
 

(i) giving a true and fair view of the consolidated entity’s financial position as at 30 June 2010 and of 
its performance for the year ended on that date; and 

 
(ii) complying with the Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting 

Interpretations) and the Corporations Regulations 2001; 
 
b. the financial statements and notes also comply with International Financial Reporting Standards as 

disclosed in note 2(a); and 
 
c. subject to note 2(b) to the financial statements, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the 

consolidated entity will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due and payable. 
 
d. this declaration has been made after receiving the declarations required to be made to the directors in 

accordance with section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001 for the financial year ended 30 June 2010. 
 
 
Dated at Perth this 30 day of September 2010. 
 

 
 
_____________________ 
Steven Apedaile 
Managing Director 
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 Liability limited by a scheme approved 
under Professional Standards 
Legislation 

 

Independent auditor’s report to the members of Automotive 
Technology Group Limited 

Report on the Financial Report 

We have audited the accompanying financial report of Automotive Technology Group Limited, which 
comprises the statement of financial position as at 30 June 2010, and the statement of 
comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows  for the year 
ended on that date, a summary of significant accounting policies, other explanatory notes and the 
directors’ declaration of the consolidated entity comprising the company and the entities it 
controlled at the year’s end or from time to time during the financial year.  

Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Report 

The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the 
financial report in accordance with the Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian 
Accounting Interpretations) and the Corporations Act 2001.  This responsibility includes 
establishing and maintaining internal controls relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of 
the financial report that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting 
and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable 
in the circumstances.  In Note 2, the directors also state that the financial report, comprising the 
financial statements and notes, complies with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued 
by the International Accounting Standards Board. 

Auditor’s Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on our audit.  We conducted 
our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. These Auditing Standards require that 
we comply with relevant ethical requirements relating to audit engagements and plan and perform 
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial report is free from material 
misstatement.   

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial report. The procedures selected depend on our judgment, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or 
error. In making those risk assessments, we consider internal controls relevant to the entity’s 
preparation and fair presentation of the financial report  in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the entity’s internal controls. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness 
of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, 
as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial report. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our audit opinion. 

Independence 

In conducting our audit we have met the independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001.  
We have given to the directors of the company a written Auditor’s Independence Declaration, a copy 
of which is included in the directors’ report.  
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Auditor’s Opinion 

In our opinion:  

 1. the financial report of Automotive Technology Group Limited is in accordance with the 
Corporations Act 2001, including: 

i giving a true and fair view of the consolidated entity’s financial position at 30 June 
2010 and of its performance for the year ended on that date; and 

ii complying with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting 
Interpretations) and the Corporations Regulations 2001. 

2. the financial report also complies with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued 
by the International Accounting Standards Board. 

 Report on the Remuneration Report 

We have audited the Remuneration Report included in pages 12 to 17 of the directors’ report for the 
year ended 30 June 2010. The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation and 
presentation of the Remuneration Report in accordance with section 300A of the Corporations Act 
2001. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Remuneration Report, based on our audit 
conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. 

Auditor’s Opinion 

In our opinion the Remuneration Report of Automotive Technology Group Limited for the year 
ended 30 June 2010, complies with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001.  

Material Uncertainty Regarding Continuation as a Going Concern 

Without qualifying our opinion, we draw attention to Note 2(b) in the financial report which indicates 
that the consolidated entity incurred losses of $4,402,760 during the year ended 30 June 2010 
and at that date its current liabilities exceeded its current assets by $299,081. As a result there is 
significant uncertainty whether it will continue as a going concern, and whether it will realise its 
assets and extinguish its liabilities in the normal course of business and at the amounts stated in the 
financial report. The financial report does not include any adjustments relating to the recoverability 
and classification of recorded asset amounts or to the amounts and classification of liabilities that 
might be necessary should the consolidated entity not continue as a going concern. 

 
 
 
Ernst & Young 
 
 

 
P McIver 
Partner 
Perth 
30 September 2010 
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ASX ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 

 
 

 
The following additional information is provided in accordance with the listing rules and is current as at 24 September 2010. 
 
(a) Distribution of equity securities 
 
(i) Ordinary share capital 

 
227,711,865 fully paid ordinary shares are held by [425] individual shareholders. All issued ordinary shares carry one 
vote per share and carry the rights to dividends. 

 
(ii) Options 
 

52,681,931 listed options expiring 30 June 2011, exercise price at $0.10 per share are held by [398] individual option 
holders.  Options do not carry a right to vote. 
 
7,500,000 options expiring 30 December 2011, exercise price at $0.30  
 

The number of shareholders, by size of holding, in each class is: 
 

  
Fully Paid 
Ordinary 

Shares 

Options 
exp 

30/06/11 
@$0.10 

Options 
exp 

31/12/11 
@$0.30 

1 – 1,000 496 22 - 
1,001 - 5,000 87,200 142 - 
5,001 - 10,000 627,890 60 - 
10,001 - 100,000 8,749,859 130 - 
100,001 and over 218,246,420 46 3 
 227,711,865 400 3 
    
Holding less than a marketable parcel 99   
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ASX ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 

 
 

 
(b) Substantial shareholders 
 

 Fully paid 
Ordinary shareholders Number Percentage 
   
Mr Michael John Wilson and Mrs Megan Joy Wilson 46,658,000 18.14% 
Euro Mark Limited and related entities 39,002,404 17.13% 
Mr Richard John Siemens and his controlled entities 35,715,255 15.68% 
Mr Steven James Apedaile and his controlled entities 25,732,486 10.59% 
 142,483,145 61.54% 

 
(c) Largest twenty shareholders 
   

 Fully paid 
Ordinary shareholders Number Percentage 
   
1. Mr Michael John Wilson & Mrs Megan Joy Wilson 40,523,000 17.80 
2. Euro Mark Limited 37,340,256 16.40 
3. China Automotive Holdings Limited 25,275,255 11.10 
4. Mr Steven James Apedaile & Mrs Michelle Lynda Apedaile <Apedaile 

Family A/C> 14,846,726 6.52 

5. JP Morgan Nominees Australia Limited <Cash Income A/C> 11,452,800 5.03 
6. Mr Steven James Apedaile & Mrs Michelle Lynda Apedaile <The 

Apedaile S/F A/C> 9,560,760 4.20 

7. Mr Ross Denford 4,500,000 1.98 
8. Dr Mansour Almasi <Almasi Super Fund A/C> 3,750,000 1.65 
9. Yarrumup Pty Ltd <Capulet Super Fund A/C> 3,500,000 1.54 
10. I-Biz Limited 3,300,000 1.45 
11. Alpha Securities Pty Ltd 2,510,000 1.10 
12. Daily Power Pty Limited  2,500,000 1.10 
13. Mrs Zahra Nahid Khosrowshahi 2,400,000 1.05 
14. Nazlan Pty Ltd <Bradley Rinaldi S/F A/C> 2,025,000 0.89 
15. Mr Siavash Khosrowshahi & Mrs Zahra-Nahid Khosrowshahi <S 

Khosrowshahi Family A/C> 2,000,000 0.88 

16. Mr John Bryan Clemesha 1,875,000 0.82 
17. ABN AMRO Clearing Sydney Nominees Pty Ltd <Next Custodian A/C> 1,828,000 0.80 
18. Merrill Lynch (Australia) Nominees Pty Ltd 1,662,148 0.73 
19. Mr Michael John Wilson & Mrs Megan Joy Wilson <The Wilson S/F 

A/C> 1,635,000 0.72 

20. Ms Celia Mi Choi Kwong 1,572,000 0.69 
 174,055,945 76.44 

 
 
(c) Largest twenty option holders 
   

 Fully paid 
Option holders Number Percentage 
   
1. Alpha Securities Pty Ltd 9,342,000 17.73 
2. Mr Michael John Wilson & Mrs Megan Joy Wilson 8,104,600 15.38 
3. Euro Mark Limited 6,804,252 12.92 
4. China Automotive Holdings Limited 5,055,051 9.60 
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5. Mr Steven James Apedaile & Mrs Michelle Lynda Apedaile <Apedaile 
Family A/C> 3,867,017 7.34 

6. ANZ Nominees Limited <Cash Income A/C> 2,228,160 4.23 
7. Mr Ross Denford 900,000 1.71 
8. Mr Steven James Apedaile & Mrs Michelle Lynda Apedaile <The 

Apedaile S/F A/C> 711,352 1.35 

9. Mr Wilson Bailey McDonald <The ECCM Super Fund A/C> 685,580 1.30 
10. I-Biz Limited 660,000 1.25 
11. Mr Adrian John Dark 625,000 1.19 
12. Daily Power Pty Limited 500,000 0.95 
13. Yarrumup Pty Ltd <Capulet Super Fund A/C> 500,000 0.95 
14. Mrs Zahra Nahid Khosrowshahi 480,000 0.91 
15. Siavash Khosrowshahia & Zahra Nahid Khosrowshahia <S 

Khosrowshahia Family A/C> 400,000 0.76 

16. Nazlan Pty Ltd <Bradley Rinaldi S/F A/C> 400,000 0.76 
17. Mr Peter William Gilford <The Sweetpea A/C> 395,029 0.75 
18. Mr John Bryan Clemesha 375,000 0.71 
19. Bond Street Custodians Limited <Macq Aust Microcap Fund A/C> 360,000 0.68 
20. Ms Celia Mi Choi Kwong 314,400 0.60 
 42,707,441 81.07 
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